
 

 

 
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 

 

Date: Tuesday 19th October, 2021 
Time: 2.00 pm 

Venue: Virtual meeting 

Please note this is a virtual meeting.  

The meeting will be livestreamed via 
the Council’s YouTube channel at 
Middlesbrough Council - YouTube 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

 
1.   Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for Absence 
 
 

  

2.   Declarations of Interest 
 
To receive any declarations of interest. 
 
 

  

3.   Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board - 14 September 2021 
and action plan 
 
The minutes of the Corporate Parenting Board held on 14 
September 2021 were submitted and approved as a correct 
record. 
 
 

 3 - 14 

4.   Adoption Tees Valley- Annual report 2021-21 
 
The Service Manager from Adoption Tees Valley, Vicky 
Davison- Boyd will present the annual report to the Board. 
 
 

 15 - 54 

5.   Covid- 19 update 
 
The Director of Children’s Services will provide a verbal 
update to the Board. 

  

Page 1

https://www.youtube.com/user/middlesbroughcouncil


 

 
 

6.   Participation with our children and young people 
 
Antonia Dixey, Chief Executive of Participation People will 
provide an update to the Board. 
 
 

  

7.   Corporate Parenting Board Strategy Action Plan- Review of 
the Sufficiency action plan 
 
The Specialist Commissioning Manager will present the 
Sufficiency action plan to the Board. 
 
 

 55 - 60 

8.   Performance against Corporate Parenting Strategy 
 
The Director of Children’s Care and the Analytics Manager 
will present the performance scorecard to the Board. 
 
 

  

9.   Virtual School Transitions 2021 
 
The Head of Virtual Schools will present the school transitions 
2021 to the Board. 
 
 

 61 - 68 

10.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, may 
be considered. 
 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Monday 11 October 2021 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors C Hobson (Chair), L Garvey (Vice-Chair), A Hellaoui, T Higgins, Z Uddin, 
C Wright, M Saunders, B Cooper and D Davison 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Susie Blood, 01642 729645, susie_blood@middlesbrough.gov.uk 
 

Page 2



Corporate Parenting Board 14 September 2021 
 

 
 

CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD 
 
A meeting of the Corporate Parenting Board was held on Tuesday 14 September 2021. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors D Davison (Chair), A Hellaoui, Z Uddin, B Cooper and C Hobson 
 

 
PRESENT BY 
INVITATION: 

Councillors  

 
ALSO IN 
ATTENDANCE: 

A Dixey, Participation People 

 
OFFICERS: S Blood, R Brown, S Butcher, T Dunn, R Farnham, C Joynes, R Hamer, 

P Jemson,L Beevers, S Chouhan and J Russell 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors T Higgins, C Wright, V Banks, T Parkinson, R Scott, L Garvey, 
A Preston (The Mayor) and T James 

 
21/11 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
  
21/12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

 
 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting.  

 
21/13 MINUTES- CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD- 20 JULY 2021 AND ACTION PLAN 

 
 The minutes from the Corporate Parenting Board meeting and action plan held on 20 July 

2021 were read and accepted as a true record. 
 

21/14 CHAIR OF CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD- VERBAL UPDATE 
 

 The Chair provided a verbal update to the Board in relation to officers she has met over the 
past month; these included: 
 

 Debra Cochran; Community Support Officer - Homelessness 

 Chris Joynes, Thirteen group, who had agreed to join the Board  

 Charlotte Nicol, Culture, who would provide an update to the Board in the near future 
regarding how young people and care leavers would be involved in the cultural 
programme.  

 
AGREED- that the update be noted. 
 

21/15 COVID 19 UPDATE 
 

 The Director of Children’s Services provided a verbal update in respect to Covid 19. 
 
The Director advised that within social care there had been no issues with staffing. Staff were 
looking forward to a gradual return to the office. 
 
1 young person had tested positive to covid in a children’s home, however this had been 
managed following government guidelines. 
 
In terms of schools, there had been no specific issues and it was now the responsibility of the 
parents to ensure young people carry out lateral flow tests who attend secondary schools. In 
terms of attendance of our Looked after children; since returning in September, the 
attendance rate was 98%. 
 
Following the presentation, members queries where lateral flow tests were sourced. In 
response, the Director advised that lateral flow tests are provided free by the Government and 
these are either sourced directly by the parents, who sent home by the schools. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



14 September 2021 

 

 
The Director was thanked for her update. 
 
Agreed- the update be noted. 
 

21/112 SUSPENSION OF COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO.5- ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

 AGREED - in accordance with Council Procedure Rule No. 5, the Chair agreed to vary the 
order of business to agenda item 6, 5, 7 and 8. 
 

21/17 REVIEW OF THE PERMANENCE ACTION PLAN 
 

 The Head of Looked after children and corporate parenting Board provided the Board with 
regard to progress made again the Permenance action plan.  
The Head of service firstly felt it was important to highlight the findings by Ofsted in November 
2019: 

 Middlesbrough has a particularly high rate of children in care against national 

comparators, and this level was increasing.  

 Children were experiencing longstanding neglect come into care too late, and 

decisions for them to do so are made in response to a crisis 

 There were serious delays in achieving permanence for most children in care. 

 Early permanence was not prioritised for children in Middlesbrough, and there is a 
lack of parallel planning, which creates delay in achieving stability. There are missed 
opportunities to place children early for fostering for adoption 

 Children subject to care orders have lived at home for several years, without timely 
and purposeful review of whether the Care Order is still required. 

 Children experienced significant delay in securing permanence through adoption. 

 Too many changes in social workers also affect the quality of decision-making 
because new workers do not know children well enough to be confident about the 
plans that are proposed and agree to changes at short notice. 

 When children’s placements become fragile, there was a lack of coordinated support 
for both children and their carers to prevent disruption. Some children, including very 
young children, have experienced too many changes in placement before their 
permanent placement is identified. 

 Family arrangements were pursued sequentially, and for too long, when children 
cannot live at home. 

 There were delays in securing special guardianship orders for connected carers, 
although the support provided to many of these arrangements is good.  

 Insufficient attention was given to ensuring timely care planning, particularly for 

very young children.  

 Senior management panels and inconsistent legal advice provide insufficient scrutiny 
for understanding children’s experiences and to ensure that their needs were met in a 
timely way. 

 
The Board learnt that the Council’s response was that the Corporate Parenting Strategy for 
Children and Young People in Middlesbrough was signed off and set out the Council’s vision 
for how the Council and our partners will support children and young people who are in our 
care, and our care leavers, to achieve the best possible outcomes in their lives. Transforming 
our approach to corporate parenting. 
The Permanency Action Plan for Children and Young People was developed in consultation 
with partners and was built around the six permanency priorities set out in the Corporate 
Parenting Strategy.  The action plan defines how Children’s Social Care will achieve the 
vision.  
The Permanency Action Plan would  be systematically reviewed and updated as actions are 
completed, towards achievement of the priority outcomes we have identified over the 3-year 
cycle of our plan.  
The overall responsible Council officer for the Permanency Action Plan for Children and 
Young People is the Director of Children’s Services (DCS). For each of the six priority themes, 
a senior Council officer has been delegated by the DCS as the accountable lead for 
maintaining an overview of the priorities set out in the action plan. 
The six priorities are as follows: 
 

1. Strengthening Permanency in Our Social Work Practice 

Page 4



14 September 2021 

 

2. Growing Our Multi-Agency Partnerships for Permanency 
3. Reducing Drift and Delay for Achieving Permanency 
4. Improving the Way we capture and Use Our Data for Permanency 
5. Supporting Permanency in Education, Employment & Training 
6. Supporting Permanency in Education, Employment & Training 

 
The Head of Service went through each of the priorities and identified what has been 
achieved since the permanency action plan had been launched; full details of these were 
outlined in the report which had been circulated to the Board prior to the meeting.  
The Head of Service further went on to state some of the impact/ data and performance in the 
last 12 months: 
 

 There has been an 23.5% reduction in overall numbers of children looked after since 
August 2020 

 Since the height of 702 looked after children in September 2020, there has been a 
reduction of 165 looked after children.    

 163 children and young people have ceased to be looked after in the last 6 months. 

 The 20/21 adoption score card evidences that the in the 12 months leading up to 31 
March 2021 the average number of days between Placement Orders and Adoption 
Order has reduced to 189 days.  The 3 year average is 323 days. 

 There has been a 56% increase of number of adoption orders in the year 20/21 (25) 
compared to 2019/2020 (16).    

 In this year to date 13 Adoption Orders have been secured.   

 There are currently a further 33 children progressing to adoption with Placement 
Orders 

 Since Jan 2021 there has been 54 Connected Carers placements commence and 114 
cease  

 The number of children in Connected Carers placements has dropped from 210 in 
Sep 2020 to 112 July 2021.  (47% reduction) 

 The number of children placed with parents has dropped from 99 in September 2020 
to 58 in August 2021.  (41% reduction) 

 Since January 2021 there has been 17 Placement with Parents commence and 51 
cease  

 There has been an increased number of children in Fostering to Adopt placements 

 Children progress though pre proceedings in a more timely way.  
 

The Board learnt that the Commissioner reported in July 2021 on progress made and 
identified that: 
“Within the permanency strategy considerable progress has been made in the tracking and 
oversight of children within the care system. This has led to impressive performance in timely 
moves for more children into adoptive placements and a significant increase in the use of 
special guardianship etc. We also see evidence of more appropriate use of Public Law 
Outline, a reduction in emergency hearings and a stronger relationship of trust is described 
with CAFCASS (Child and Family Court Advisory and Support Services)” 
 
The Head of Service identified two risks: 

 The increase in demand across the service and across the tees valley region 

 Staffing instability across the looked after and care leaving service could impact on 
performance and leads to children experience multiple social workers, however there 
was a strategy in place to identify this. 

The Board finally heard the next steps in respect to the action plan: 
 

 Data Team to develop a Permanence Dashboard and Score Card – Performance and 
progress to be reported to Improvement Board and Corporate Parenting Board 

 Life Story Work compliance and quality to be driven 

 Reduction and tracking of the number of children residing in external residential 
placements 

 Progress the Permanence Action Plan and report to Improvement Board and 
Corporate Parenting Board 

 Develop further practice standards for Placement with Parent/Special Guardianship 
Orders and Reunification 

 To continue to work with Partners in Practice to develop improved fostering 
processes. 

Page 5



14 September 2021 

 

 
After the presentation a number of Board members made a number of comments in relation to 
the presentation. Firstly, a Board member stated that it was enlightening to see how much has 
been done since the Ofsted report and thanked staff for all their hard work in making the lives 
of children in Middlesbrough better, and whilst there was a long way to go, the steps made 
had been huge and a massive achievement. 
Another Board member wanted to ensure that our looked after children were experiencing the 
same life experiences as other children. In response, the Director of children’s Care advised 
that within the child’s care plan, hobbies and interests are addressed and we must also ask ‘Is 
it good enough for my child?’.  The Foster Carer wanted to ensure that our looked after 
children are addressed the way they wished to be e.g. a child looked after or child in care and 
secondly, he outlined that the children are family members and experience what we would do 
with our own children. 
 
The Head of Service was thanked for her presentation. 
 
AGREED- That the action plan be noted. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

21/16 PARTICIPATION OF CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 
 

 The Chair welcomed Antonia Dixey, Chief Executive of Participation People to the meeting. 
The Participation People had been brought into the organisation to help strengthen the voice 
of young people, especially for our care experienced children and care leavers. 
 
The Chief Executive wishes to share plans to get young people to quality assure the services 
and how they can help develop formal governance arrangements.  
 
The Chief Executive shared the Middlesbrough Care Experienced Youthvoice Road map and 
what they hoped to achieve in the next few months. 
 
OCTOBER 2021 
The Chief Executive outlined that at present there are a small number of young people within 
the in house care councils and the care leavers’ forum and they are looking to grow these 
groups to ensure they flourish and are fun and engage young people. This would be a phased 
approach, by firstly asking the care leavers to develop a training programme which tells 
councilors what it is like to be a child in care in Middlesbrough. It was hoped that this would be 
delivered as part of care leavers week at the end of October. 
 
In terms of the in house care councils, they want to ensure that the young people own their 
mandate to strengthen and improve in house services as well as having fun and bringing 
together young people e.g. having a craft day/ sports day/ making custard pie days.  
 
The Chief Executive stated that as Corporate Parents, this journey was also their journey and 
their help was needed to help recruit young people to incase councils and the care leavers 
forum be also to make sure our services / forums are funky where they can have fun and help 
shape council services. 
 
NOVEMBER 2021 
 
In November it was ‘National Takeover’, and Participation people were recruiting 50 young 
people from people to take over Middlesbrough Children’s Services. This would not just be 
shadowing or sitting in a few meetings, but pro produce solutions to big business challenges 
and looking at our service journeys.  
 
DECEMBER 2021 

Page 6



14 September 2021 

 

 
The Participation People will also be taking our young people away where they will create 
friendships and have fun. 
 
The Chief Executive also outlined that they were looking at developing a mentor system of 
young people to adults (Reserve mentoring) and this will be offered by care leavers and in 
exchange we ask they get taught a life skill. 
 
The Chief Executive also asked the Corporate Parenting Board if there were a business 
challenge that young people could assist with, and to help with formal governance 
arrangements. This would be left with the Board to consider.  
 
The Chair thanked the Chief Executive for her presentation and would await further details of 
the roadmap as it developed over the next few months.  
 

21/18 FUTURE FOR FAMILIES - UPDATE 
 

 The Service Manager for Future for Families, attended the Board to provide an update on the 
service over the last 12 months and the wider system change for Middlesbrough. 
 
The Service Manager outlined that following the Ofsted inspection, Future for families set 
about to changing culture, and did this by adopting and adapting the Provocations and Non 
Negotiables of No Wrong Door (service in North Yorkshire to which Future for families is 
adopted from). What this meant for Middlesbrough was we needed to think about was 
important to Middlesbrough and to use provocations and non negotiables to shape a new 
culture for Middlesbrough. 
In the first 12 months, the Service Manager outlined that Future for Families  
 

 have received 163 referrals in 12 months  

 Worked with 91 young people and families which is 56% of all referrals  

 Currently working with 43 young people and their families  

 3 young people have returned home from residential placements to family 

 2 young people who have had high levels of support 3:1 in external residential 
were now supported within the hub on reduced staffing levels.   

Within Future for Families, they look to understand the child’s journey and this is done by the 
power of deep dive. Deep dive looks at all the key events in a young persons’ life and allow to 
listen to the young person and share their experiences through support from their workers. We 
look forward at their aspirations and lastly reflect and look at lessons learnt. Any outcomes are 
fed back to senior management. Deep dives look to change the way of thinking for 
professions involved and make an impact on practice. Over the past 12 months approx. 50 
deep dive sessions have been completed.  
 
The Board heard that Future for families has also looked at increasing safety for young people 
in Middlesbrough, by adapting and adopting RAISE- Risk, Analysis, Intervention, Solution, 
Evaluation. RAISE is a process from North Yorkshire which Middlesbrough has adapted to fit 
the young people of Middlesbrough. 
The RAISE group looks at therapeutic measures to reduce risk for the young people. The 
service has also done RAISE for young people in the Risk Management group (RMG), Edge 
of Care or with a group, who may be involved in a worrying situations. The Raise process has 
also used with young people who may be involved/exploited in organised crime groups (OCG) 
and have supported with 15 missing plans for our most vulnerable young people , who are not 
under future for families. 
The Service Manager further outlined that it was important to invest time to save time later, 
and this has been done by upskilling colleagues from across children’s social care. 
 
Future for families have looked at the following over the last 12 months: 
 

- Referrals 
- The power of communications  
- Trauma informed practice 
- Future for families have done presentations on themselves to challanage their 

service, by asking, what are we? How can we help? 
- Deep dive process for newly qualifies social workers, this training has been well 

received. 

Page 7



14 September 2021 

 

- Supervisions training support in the development of training for managers. 
 
Cost avoidance – what does it mean for Middlesbrough? 
Lastly the Service Manager outlined the cost avoidance and how future for families has 
assisted.  

 During 2020/21 two young people moved into the Futures for Families hub where in 

the previous year they where in external Residential at a cost of £28,000 a week 

(£1,206,000 for the period of their stay at FFF actual savings) This is the equivalent of 

Gleneagles short break service for children with disabilities and Rosecroft children’s 

home. 

Cost avoidance 
 

 August 2020 – March 21 £919,112.41 this is approx the same as 2x social work 

teams who support 270 young people. 

 2021 – 2022 £3,897,516.48 (projected cost avoidance) 

 2022 – 2023 £6,487,347.84 (projected cost avoidance) 

 
Following the presentation, the Chair queried what support is provided to families once the 
young person’s returns home. In response, the Service Manager advised that this was done 
on an individual basis, between the family and social worker and look at their needs.  Once it 
is decided that they no longer need professional support, they will be directed to other 
outreach support e.g. early help. 
 
AGREED- That the update be noted. 
 
 

21/19 PERFORMANCE AGAINST CORPORATE PARENTING STRATEGY 
 

 The Director of Children’s Care was in attendance and provided the Board with information 
relating to the Corporate Parenting Board scorecard. 
 
The Director advised that the scorecard was in place for the Corporate Parenting Board to see 
how our performance was progressing and have the opportunity to challenge anything where 
you saw wasn’t meeting target. 
 
The main points to note were as follows: 
 
DEMAND 
 

 There has been an 22.3% reduction in overall numbers of children looked after since 
August 2020 

 

 Since the height of 702 looked after children during September 2020, there has been 

a reduction of 157 looked after children.    
 

 136 children and young people have ceased to be looked after in the last 6 months. 
 

 The number of children in Connected Carers placements has dropped from 210 in 
Sep 2020 to 112 July 2021 (47% reduction). 

 

 Since Jan 2021 there has been 54 Connected Carers placements commence and 114 
cease.  

 The number of children placed with parents has dropped from 99 in September 2020 
to 58 in August 2021 (41% reduction). 

 

 Since Jan 2021 there has been 17 Placement with Parents commence and 51 cease.  
 

 There is an increased number of children in Fostering to Adopt placements. 
 

 In September 2020 the data evidences that for every child ceasing to be looked after, 

Page 8



14 September 2021 

 

1.9 children started to become looked after.  This means that more children were 
becoming looked after than ceasing and the looked after population continued to 
increase.   
 

 There has been a month on month reduction in this throughout the year until March 
2021 when improvements resulted in less children becoming looked after than those 
ceasing.  
 

 This progress has continued.  In June 2021 for every child ceasing to be looked after 
0.6 children became looked after.  This has remained static for the last 3 months.   
 
Permanency 
 
Placements with Parents – the most recent forecasting model demonstrates a 
reduction in the number of children subject to care proceedings and placed with a 
parent.   
In September 2020 there were 99 children living at home and subject to a Care Order.  
This has reduced to 59 children in September 2021.  This is 40.4% reduction.   
 
SGOs/CAO- In July 2020 there was a height of 212 children cared for by family or 
friends in connected carer placements.  This has reduced through improvement work 
to support children to achieve permanence.  In August 2021 this reduced to 122 
children.  (42.4% reduction).  75 Special Guardianship Orders have been granted in 
the last 12 months.   
This has been achieved through increased management oversight within Legal 
Gateway Panel, Permanency Monitoring Group, an investment in a commissioned 
service and a drive on performance management. 
 

 There is a 56% increase of number of adoption orders in the year 20/21 (25) 
compared to 2019/2020 (16).    

 In this year to date 13 Adoption Orders have been secured. There are currently a 
further 33 children progressing to adoption with Placement Orders. 
 

 The local authority is on track to increase the number of children subject to adoption 
orders significantly in this financial year.   

 The graph evidences a significant reduction in the number of days between children 
entering care to being placed in an adoptive placement.  This has reduced from 641 
days in January to 364 in July 2021.  

 The 20/21 adoption score card evidences that the in the 12 months leading up to 31 
March 2021 the average number of days between Placement Orders and Adoption 
Order has reduced to 189 days.  The 3 year average is 323 days. 
 

Placements 
 

 There has been an increase in the number of children placed outside of a 20 mile 
radius of Middlesbrough.  13 children moved to placements out of Middlesbrough in 
August.   

 When considering placement moves it is important to consider what kind of placement 
the child is moving to. 

 Positively, of the 13 – 3 children were placed in adoptive placements and 3 children 
placed with family in connected carers arrangements. 

 6 children were placed in foster care – of which 5 placements were in house foster 
placements and 1 in an external residential placement.  The YP that moved to a 
residential placement moved from an unregulated placement to a regulated 
placement following a nationwide search for a local regulated provision.  

 

 There has been consistent improvements since November 2020 regarding the 
number of children who have experienced a single placement in the last 12 months.   

 This has remained stable at just below 70% of the looked after population since May 
2021.   

 In the same period last year 17.3% of the looked after population had experienced 3 
or more placement moves.  This has reduced to 5.4% of the looked after population in 
August 2021 and evidences significant improvements to this indicator.   

Page 9



14 September 2021 

 

 There is also evidence that there has been a stable reduction in the number of 
children experiencing placement endings.   

 
Quality and Impact 
 
Of the 177 care experienced young people:- 
 

• 73 young people are in full time education training or employment 
• 16 YP are in part time employment education or training 
• 17 YP are NEET due to disability or illness 
• 16 YP are NEET due to pregnancy or parenting 
• 55 YP are NEET for other reasons 

 
This would amount to 50.3% of the care leaving population being engaged in either full or part 
time education training and employment and 49.7% NEET. A stable 70% of post 16 children in 
Education, Employment or training (EET) and 40% of care leavers are EET. We have a Board 
in place who is supported by a number of partners, including social workers and community 
learning and we look at specific cases as to why they cannot attend EET. There is a specific 
NEET group with has a specific action plan. There are such complexities which often help it 
difficult to engage. Community learning help our young people through EYI and routes to 
work. There are also opportunities for care experienced young people to apply for council 
positions, and whilst it is early days, we hope that big differences will be seen.  
 
The Director was thanked for her presentation. 
 
AGREED- That the date be noted. 
 

21/110 CORPORATE REFERENCE GROUP 
 

 The Director of Children’s Services provided a presentation in terms of the Corporate 
Reference Group. She advised that Board that: 

 The Corporate Reference Group (CRG) was established following the Inadequate 

Ofsted judgement of Children’s Services to provide a whole council approach to 

supporting and delivering against our improvement programme.  

 The group is made up of representation of all directorates and operates at a 

Director and Head of Service Level, whilst being chaired by the Chief Executive.  

 The group took some time to move from a general information sharing session to 

one with focused intentions.   

 It was agreed that the group would focus on;  How the group can support and 

strengthen the improvement outcomes identified by Ofsted in January 2020, 

ultimately strengthening the delivery of the Children’s Service Improvement 

Programme; developing and delivering against a wider ambition for all children of 

Middlesbrough.  

The Director advised that the group has moved from information sharing to more focused 
workstreams: 
 
Work Stream 1 – Holistic delivery of the Children’s Services Improvement Plan 

 All directorates have reviewed the original Ofsted outcomes and provided 

contributions to strengthen delivery against them. These contributions now 

form part of an internal delivery plan which is monitored monthly through the 

Corporate Reference Group.  

Work Stream 2 – Wider ambition for all children of Middlesbrough 

 We have internally reviewed our Middlesbrough Children Matter (MCM) 

priorities with the aim of making these more child friendly. The children’s 

strategy will be informed by our existing MCM vision, mission and brand.  

 We have commissioned Participation People who will support us in 

undertaking a town-wide Children and Young People’s consultation to ensure 

Page 10



14 September 2021 

 

our priorities are reflective of their views. 

 The model we will be using to undertake the consultation is a Young 

Researcher model. This will see us recruit and train 25 young researchers 

who will be responsible for undertaking the consultation, analysing the data, 

and co-producing the strategy. 

 Draft material has been developed for our Young Researcher recruitment 

campaign.  

 
The Director finally outlined that next steps of the group: 

 Submit a report to Executive to gain political buy in to the approach.  

 Co-produce our strategy with children and young people. 

 Development of supporting delivery plan and governance structures.  

 Communicate the strategy across the town.  

 Work with partners and businesses to gain collaborative buy in to the delivery of the 

agreed priorities. 

 Continue to work with our young researchers to hold Middlesbrough Council and 

partners to account for delivery against the agreed commitments.   

The Director was thanked for her presentation. 
 
AGREED- That the update be noted. 
 

21/111 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, MAY BE 
CONSIDERED. 
 

 No items. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



ACTIONS- CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD (14 SEPTEMBER 2021) 

1 
 

Action 
 

Responsible Director/Officer Progress 

 
Action 1 (action 21 April 2021) 
 
Elevating the voice of young people 
 

 
 
J Watson/ R Jordinson 

 
 
Update to be provided January 2022 

 
Action 2 (action from 11 September 2019) 
Visit to Adoption Tees Valley 

 
Susie Blood- Democratic Services Officer 
Vicky Davidson-Boyd- Service Manager, 
Adoption Tees Valley7 
 

 
Future visit to be arranged accordingly.  
Due to Covid- 19 restrictions this has not been 
able to take place. 

Action 3 (action from 14 September 2021) 
 
Chris Joynes from Thirteen to provide an update to the 
Board. 
 

 
Chris Joynes/ Susie Blood 

 
At a future meeting 

Action 4 (action from 14 September 2021) 
 
Charlotte Nicol to provide an update to the Board 
regarding Culture and opportunities for children in 
care/ care leavers. 
 

 
Charlotte Nicol/ Susie Blood 

 
Update to provided January 2022. 

 

P
age 13



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Adoption Tees Valley 

Annual Report 2020-2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Index Page 

1 Introduction 2 

Transform a child’s life… Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Glossary 
ADM- agency decision maker  

PO- Placement order  

RAA- Regional Adoption Agency  

VAA- Voluntary Adoption Agency 

  

2 Covid Regulations Flexibilities – use in ATV 4 

3 Governance  5 

4 National Context of Adoption  5 

5 Key strategic developments- early 

permanence 

6 

6 Three Year Review of ATV 6 

7 Performance Benchmarking ATV/England 

 Analysis of performance  

7 

11 

8 Marketing  13 

9 Adopter Journey- Enquiry to Approval 15 

10 Assessment to Support Pathway  16 

11 Preparation for Adoption Groups  17 

12 Early Permanence 19 

13 Referrals of Children, Matching and Placing 20 

14 Characteristics of children Placed  

 Children who wait the longest in Tees 

Valley 

21 

22 

15 Disruptions 23 

16 Adoption Panel  23 

18 Life Story Work 26 

18 Adoption Support 
Referrals, Adoption Support Assessments, 

Applications to ASF, therapeutic Provision, Access to 

Files, Educations Support, Post Box, Birth Parent 

Support, Therapeutic Parenting, Adopter Hub, 

Covid Funding, Adoption Support Development 

26 

19 Children’s Voice in Adoption 33 

20 Non Agency Adoption 33 

21 Quality Assurance  34 

22 Finance 36 

23 Development Planning 38 

Page 16



 

3 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

1. Introduction 

This is the 3rd full annual report of Adoption Tees Valley, which is the Regional 

Adoption Agency (RAA), for the 5 Local Authority Councils of Darlington; 

Hartlepool; Middlesbrough; Redcar and Cleveland; and Stockton.  

This Annual Report covers the period of 1.4.20 - 31.3.2021.  

This period has been impacted by the national Covid 19 pandemic, and the 

year reported on has been characterised by adoption activity which has 

been conducted within the amended regulations and restrictions that have 

been imposed because of the public health emergency.  

The pandemic has brought both challenge and opportunity to work 

differently across Children’s Services, and within the arena of adoption. To 

continue adoption activity and finding permanent new families for children 

requiring adoption, it has been essential to work creatively, and 

collaboratively, to deliver the best possible services to children and adoptive 

parents throughout. The service has trialled new ways of working and has 

implemented practices which have been underpinned by nationally 

developing adoption practice, and research.  

This report will show that 82 children have been placed for adoption within 

this year, and a further 17 have been placed for early permanence, not yet 

“placed for adoption” which is overall placement activity broadly consistent 

with the previous year. This level of adoption activity demonstrates that 

across the 5 Children’s Services Teams, and within Adoption Tees Valley, work 

has been continued, challenges discussed, and solutions found, and children 

with an adoption plan have continued to achieve permanence, through 

safe, and well supported social work practice. A point of celebration is that 

20 % of children placed have been over 5 years of age, and 56% have been 

in the harder to place categories, which includes children aged 5 +, siblings 

and children of ethnic minority backgrounds.  

Referral numbers of children to ATV have continued to rise, with a 19% 

increase on the previous year. This is indicative of continuing high numbers of 

children in our care across the Tees Valley, which is in contrast to national 

trends across England.  

Adoption Orders granted have been at their highest numbers for 6 years in 

the region, at 89, again going against national trends in adoption activity.  

The data for this period shows that there is a continued demand for 

permanence via adoption for children who are, sadly, unable to be cared 

for safely by birth parents, or within their birth family, or kinship network.  

Page 17



 

4 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The timeliness data shows that ATV has brought a year on year steady 

improvement to overall average timescales, for children from starting their 

care journey to moving in with adopters. This is a positive indicator as we 

know that there are a number of children, now adopted, who have had 

significant periods of time before becoming adopted, and who are now 

reflected in overall timeliness data. 

The specific data on Placement Order to Match timescales has shown an 

increase, which is reflective of this same group of children. The service is 

working with Local Authorities to understand the story for children with 

lengthy care episodes prior to adoption. It is notable that across England this 

timeliness figure (A2) has also increased this year.  

ATV is also reviewing and analysing critically the practice which supports 

timely matching of children once PO is granted. It’s crucial that Local 

Authorities and ATV work closely and collectively together where a child may 

have a plan for adoption, and that information is shared in a timely way, to 

enable early family finding to take place. There are good processes in place 

for early notification of children, who may have a plan for adoption, but we 

know timely sharing of all information has been a barrier in some cases. The 

service has asked its Legal Advisor to develop an Information Sharing 

Protocol for early permanence planning for children, and this has been a 

piece of work which has been ratified through the Local Family Justice Board, 

and through consultation with multi agency partners. It is intended that this 

protocol will support early information sharing for the benefit of finding 

families for children at the earliest opportunity where adoption is their plan.  

The work, and outcomes are reflective of good, well planned and 

collaborative work through multiple stakeholders, including the Courts. 

Professionals have communicated well, and have planned together, using 

new ways of working to achieve best outcomes for children and their 

families, taking account of the challenges of the pandemic, on health and 

movement within and between communities.  

Although the pandemic has brought some significant challenges, the service 

has developed and piloted some new ways of working, which are outlined in 

the report.  

 Early permanence has been embedded in a more systemic way, with 

a clear pathway for adopters wishing to offer this placement type.  

 The service has worked with the University of East Anglia research 

“Moving on to Adoption” to trial a model of Introductions and 

Placement planning, which supports moving children in with adopters 

at a pace they need.  

 The service has developed the “Assessment to Support Pathway”, 

enhancing the continuity of preparation for adoption, and adoption 

Page 18



 

5 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

support, using the underpinning model of Secure Base, and PACE 

parenting.  

 A new Friends and Family training module is now offered to all adopters 

and their support networks.  

 

 

2. Covid Regulation Flexibilities  

The Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations (2020) 

was passed through parliament on the 23.4.20 and came into force on the 

27.4.20. These permitted adoption services a range of flexibilities which would 

enable adoption activity to progress, through the pandemic. The amended 

regulations were again amended in September 2020, and March 2021, 

changing what flexibilities were permitted.  

ATV has used flexibilities as follows:  

i. A panel has always been convened for usual panel business. No 

adopter has been approved, and no match has proceeded to a 

decision, without being considered at the adoption panel. The flexibility 

to stand down panel has not been used.  

ii. The Agency produced amended procedures to allow for the possibility 

that the panel may not achieve quoracy of 5, in unforeseen 

circumstances. On 4 occasions the agency has operated with 4 panel 

members, and on all other occasions, there have been at least 5 panel 

members. The panel is independently chaired, and there is always at 

least 2 further independent panel members. This flexibility has not been 

permitted since September 2020 and has not been used since that 

time.  

iii. No relinquished child has been referred or considered within this 

period.  

iv. The agency has progressed adopters to stage 2 of the assessment 

process, without having yet obtained health information, and/or DBS 

information. This has been necessary, as GP’s have not been able to 

prioritise adoption medicals of prospective adopters. Since September 

adopters have only been progressed to stage 2 without Medical 

Reports having yet been received.  

v. No adopter who is required to have a medical assessment has been 

approved without one having taken place and considered by one of 

the Agency Medical Advisors.  

A significant challenge for the Agency has been the situation with respect of 

provision of Medical Reports by GP’s, due to challenges of covid, and 

pressure on GP practices.  

Page 19



 

6 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The service has worked at a local GP practice, and strategic partnership level 

to attempt to address the timeliness of adopter medicals. The service valued 

the input of Safeguarding GP’s particularly for Hartlepool/Stockton and for 

Darlington, who have liaised with local GP practices to promote the 

importance of adopter medicals in the safeguarding of children. However, 

some GP practices continue to present lengthy delays in providing adopter 

medicals, which has impacted on overall assessment timescales, and in some 

cases led to some dissatisfaction for prospective adopters.  

3. Governance  

The RAA is governed by a Board, which comprises the 5 Directors for 

Children’s Services of the 5 Local Authorities within the partnership. There are 

2 non-Executive Directors, who were recruited to the Board in 2020, and who 

are adoptive parents who have adopted through ATV.  

The Service Manager for ATV attends all Board meetings and presents 

information to enable oversight of the performance of the RAA, strategic 

direction and operational practice. The Board has a role in being assured of 

the quality of adoption work in Adoption Tees Valley, and receives 

information on quality, outcomes, and proposed improvements.  

Board meetings are held quarterly.  

The Chair of the Board is Sue Butcher, DCS at Middlesbrough Children’s 

Services, and it is now agreed Chair tenure will be for 2 years.  

In each of the 5 LA’s there is an Adoption Lead Officer who is responsible for 

ensuring that the RAA is delivering effective and high quality adoption 

services for the children in its area. The Adoption Lead Officer is registered 

with Ofsted,  

Adoption Leads meet with the Service Manager and Team Managers of ATV 

monthly.  

The Lead Elected Members of the Council with responsibility for Children’s 

Services, for each Local Authority area meet bi-annually with the Board and 

Service Manager, to oversee the work of ATV, and be kept informed of key 

developments.  

 

4. National Context of Adoption  

The government has rolled out the programme of regionalisation of adoption 

over the past 4 years, and almost all Local Authorities in England are now in a 

RAA.  

Page 20



 

7 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Regionalisation has enabled a viable working group of RAA leaders to meet 

and work together, to develop practice, and address challenges and 

opportunities affecting the adoption of children across England.  

The core objectives are to enable children to be placed with adoptive 

families more quickly, reducing waiting time to be adopted; and to improve 

the quality of adoption support for children and families.  

The DfE have supported the regionalisation programme, and there is now 

central government funding to progress strategic leadership, and 

programme workstreams for adoption across the national RAA Leaders 

Group.  

The ATV Service Manager participates in the national RAA leaders’ forum, 

and through this, ATV is developing adoption practice within a national 

context, influenced by key stakeholders.  

The Adoption and Special Guardianship Leadership Board (ASGLB) seeks to 

address matters impacting on permanence for children. Locally, the regional 

ASGLB is a strategic and practice forum for North East and Cumbrian Local 

Authorities, and Voluntary Adoption Agencies, and is chaired by Sally 

Robinson, DCS at Hartlepool BC who is also a member of ATV Board.  

Within this year, the Regional ASGLB convened a conference, delivered 

virtually, with researchers from The University of East Anglia presenting the 

findings of the Moving on To Adoption Model. ATV has begun to adopt this 

best practice model in some targeted cases, planning for an introductions 

programme for the child which is centred around good relationship building 

between foster carers and adopters, and taken at the child’s pace.  

ATV works as part of the regional and national strategic and operational 

forums, to be influenced by, and to influence best practice for adopted 

children, and those who have a plan for permanence via adoption.   

Through regional collaborative work, there has been a drive to achieve 

better opportunities for placing children within the region, where possible 

through the development of a regional protocol, where VAA’s and RAA’s 

have agreed to maximise and protect the opportunities for children to be 

placed with locally approved adoptive parents, where possible.  

Work is underway through the RASGLB partnerships to develop a regional 

market position statement, to underpin sufficiency analysis and planning for 

the children requiring adoption. The aim is to use regional adopters for 

regional children, and to plan for future needs, and skills to take the children 

who require adoption.  

5. Key Strategic Development 

Page 21



 

8 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Early Permanence  

ATV has set out to offer more opportunity for children to be cared for by their 

likely permanent family, at an earlier stage in their lives. This is achieved 

through fostering for adoption, where the child’s plan is well developed 

before the Placement Order is granted, enabling a transparent, well planned 

placement, which reduces moves for children, and enables vital bonding 

and attachment with those likely to become parents to the child, at an 

earlier stage.  

This has been mobilised through the Early Permanence Strategy, which has 

been collaborative, and has involved key stakeholders with a role in care 

planning and the placement of children for adoption.  

This report will show the work and progress in developing early permanence, 

and key challenges learned through the process.  

In total 17 children have been placed on a fostering for adoption basis, prior 

to the Court authorisation to place for adoption.  

6. Three Year Review of Adoption Tees Valley  

The Board have directed a review of ATV, in line with original plans in the 

Business case presented to Councils prior to implementation.  

The review will measure performance against the 4 key objectives set out in 

the original full business case, presented to the 5 Local Authority Councils for 

agreement, prior to the establishment of the RAA.  

These were:  

 To deliver better outcomes for children and families 

 To deliver improved value for money 

 To establish strong and sustainable services  

 To successfully implement the RAA 

The review is being supported by a member of the Stockton BC 

Transformation Team and is using a mixed methodology of data and financial 

review; surveys; focus groups; and peer to peer learning project between 

ATV and a similar sized RAA. An independent facilitator, experienced in RAA 

development,  has been appointed for a Focus Group with the Board of ATV.  

 

The review is underway and will conclude with findings in September 2021.  

7. Performance Benchmarking Information 

This section will compare ATV overall performance to England average, 

where comparable data is published and exists.    

Page 22



 

9 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Individual LA data for the 5 Local Authority partners will be provided in later 

sections  

Children  

 

 ATV 2019-

20 

ATV 2020-

21 

Direction All England  Direction 

Adoption 

Orders  

64 89 ↑ Inc  

39% 

2,863 ↓ Dec 

16% 

Placements  91 82 ↓ Dec  

10% 

3,064 ↓ Dec 

7.5%  

PO’s 82 76 ↓ Dec 

7% 

2,907 ↓ Dec  

12.5% 

ADM BID’s  96 99 ↑ Inc 

3%  

3,731 ↓ Dec  

9.5%  

Early 

Permanence  

10 17 ↑ Inc 

70% 

449 ↓ Dec  

7% 

A10  
(entering care to 

moving in with 

adopters) - days 

414 405 ↓ Dec 

2% 

418 ↑ Inc 11% 

from 375 

2019/20 

Adoption 

Scorecard 

A2 214 238 ↑ Inc 

11% 

206 ↑ Inc 11% 

from 185 

2019/20 

Adoption 

Scorecard 

Rate of 

leaving care 

by AO 

10% 12% ↑ Inc  

2% 

 

11% 

(2019/20) 

↓ Dec 

1% from 

12% 

2018/19 

 
From ATV Q4 Scorecard, taken from ASGLB returns, England Data from ASGLB Q4 2020-21 

X indicates data not available, or not meaningful in this report  

Adopters  

 ATV 2019-

20 

ATV 2020-

21 

Direction All England  Direction 

Approvals  51 62 ↑ Inc  

22% 

3,164 ↑ Inc 

6% 

Numbers in 

assessment- 

end of period 

34 40 ↑ Inc  

18% 

X  

Stage 1 starts 

 

60  63   ↑ Inc  

3% 

X  

Page 23



 

10 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 ATV 2019-

20 

ATV 2020-

21 

Direction All England  Direction 

 

Stage 2 starts 57 62  ↑ Inc 

9% 

  

X  

Fastrack  20  12 Dec 

40% 

 

X  

Waiting to be 

matched at 

end of period 

22 36 ↑ Inc  

64% 

X  

Waited more 

than 3 

months to be 

matched 

71% 54% ↓ Dec 

 17%  

X  

Approval to 

match 

timescale 
Days   

 129   269  

Approval 

timescale 
days 

202  217  295  

Stage 1 
days   

 93   112  

Stage 2  
Days   

 127  141  

 

From ATV Q4 Scorecard, taken from ASGLB returns, England Data from ASGLB Q4 2020-21 

X indicates data not available, or not meaningful in this report  

 

Characteristics of children Adopted 2020-21, and Children Waiting with PO as 

of 31.3.21  

  

 Age 

under 

5  

Age 

over 

5  

Female Male Ethnic 

Minority 

Heritage 

Disabled Part 

of Sib 

group 

Harder 

to 

place 
Adopted 71 18 49 40 8 2 37 46 
Waiting 

with PO, 

31.3.21  

39 9 25 23 7 0 19 20 

Waiting 

over 18 

months 

since 

9 6 7 8 4 0 10 10 

Page 24



 

11 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

entering 

care 

 

Individual Local Authority Performance  

Adoption Orders  

   

 

Children Placed for Adoption  

 

  

 

Agency Decisions that Adoption is in the Child’s Best Interest (ADM BID)   

 

73
84

64

89

0

50

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

TV number of AOs by year

16 10 11 7

7 16 14
11

24 19 16 25

11 11
9

20

15
28

14

26

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

LA number of AOs by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

86
61

91 82

0

50

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

TV number of adoptive 
placements by year

8 9 13 15
18 9 9

15

25
17

22
24

11

9

17
11

24

17

28 17

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

LA number of adoptive placements 
by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

Page 25



 

12 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

  

 

Placement Orders  

  

 

Analysis of Performance  

The numbers of children adopted from care in this year has risen by 39%, with 

89 children having been adopted this year. This is the highest level of 

adoption orders in the last 6 years, and indicates that in Tees Valley, adoption 

activity does not appear to be following the national trend, of a decline in 

numbers.  

Stockton, Redcar and Cleveland, and Middlesbrough have seen Adoptions 

from care rise in the last year, with Redcar and Cleveland seeing a 122% 

increase; Stockton seeing an 85% increase and Middlesbrough seeing a 56% 

increase.  

Darlington and Hartlepool have seen fewer children adopted in this year, 

than the previous one.  

Adoptions from care in this year reflect the high numbers of children placed 

overall for adoption in the previous year.  

98

113

96 99

80

100

120

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

TV number of ADM BIDs by year 

15 15 17 13
17 12 14 16
17 27 35 33
30 16 11 17
20 43 19 20

0

50

100

150

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

LA number of ADM BIDs by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

78
90

82
76

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

TV number of POs by year 

14 12 18 8

13 14 10
13

15 23 21 28

22 14 14 10

15
30

19 17

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

LA number of PO's by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

Page 26



 

13 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This year, the numbers of children placed with adoptive families has dropped 

by 9% from 91 to 82 children placed for adoption in the year.  

Stockton have seen a 39% drop in placements; and Redcar and Cleveland a 

35% drop. Middlesbrough have had 9% more children placed; Hartlepool 

have had 66% increase and Darlington 15% increase.   

The service has promoted early permanence (EP) , as detailed above.  This 

has impacted on EP cases, with more children having started their adoption 

placements at an earlier stage, via fostering for adoption. The number of 

children in EP has risen by 70 %, although numbers are small. The numbers 

have risen from 10 in the previous year to 17 in this year.  

To date no children have been returned to parental care following 

placement in a fostering to adopt placement, however, the Service is now 

beginning to encounter cases where this is being considered. It should always 

be remembered that where parents are able to care for their child safely, this 

is the best plan for that child.  

ATV has had significant impact in terms of adoptions of older children from 

care, with 18 of the 89 children adopted from care this year being over age 

5. This is 20% of all children adopted were over the age of 5. This particular 

outcome is a positive one, indicating that in Tees Valley, we are collectively 

ambitious that older children can be adopted, and have achieved 

permanence via adoption for many older children.  

The number of children for whom the permanence decision has changed 

from adoption remains steady at 21. The reasons include:  a change of plan 

due to the child’s needs changing; no adopters able to be found in the 

timescale required; Court not granting PO.   

Adoptions of children from ethnic minority backgrounds have increased 

slightly in this year, from 5 to 8. This represents 9% of all children adopted.  

Agency Decisions that adoption is in the child’s best interest have risen slightly 

(3%), with Redcar and Cleveland being the LA which has seen more plans 

decided.  

Placement Orders have declined in this year by 7%, from 82 to 76. This may 

reflect the national trend is beginning to follow in Tees Valley, with national 

adoptions reducing, or due to delays in Final hearings. Better analysis will be 

available of the trend in PO’s, as the year 2021-22 progresses.  

ATV has increased its approval of adopters by 24%, rising from 51 in the 

previous year to 62 adopter approvals in this year. This is a significant 

achievement, especially during the pandemic. This figure could have been 

greater; however, many assessments have been delayed due to delays in GP 

practices in undertaking adult health assessments.  

Page 27



 

14 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ATV has seen a greater number of Stage 1 assessments starts (a rise of 3% to 

63) however, noted is a number of stage 1 drop outs due to the adopters not 

being at the right time in their lives to adopt, or checks identifying it is not 

suitable to proceed. It is felt that more people considered adoption during 

covid, but more applicants were not yet ready to adopt, when stage 1 

commenced. Stage 2 starts have increased in the year, from 57 to 62, a 9% 

rise. 

The above reflects that in Tees Valley, adoption is continuing to be busy and 

to thrive, with children being matched and placed at a relatively similar level, 

and with a continuing interest in adopting from people within the community.  

The performance also will help address whether ATV is recruiting the right 

adopters for the children who require placement.  

This year 30 children have been placed with external agency adopters, 

which is the same number as the previous year, but is a greater percentage 

of the total (36%). Of these 30 children, 15 were placed within the NE and 

Cumbria region, with local VAA’s, which is a positive in terms of seeking to 

offer children families where contact plans can more easily be maintained, 

and where their regional identity, and longer term adoption support needs 

are planned for closer to the home region.  

At the end of the period 36 families were approved, not yet matched. 

However, of these families many were in the process of matching, and the 

data shows that the percentage of families who wait more than 3 months 

following approval, to match has reduced from 71% to 54%. This means that 

nearly half of all families were matched with children within 3 months of their 

approval and is a positive indicator that ATV is utilising its own adopter 

resources. The rise in numbers not yet matched is also indicative of a greater 

number approved. There are few adopters who are waiting over 12 months 

to take a child, and ATV adopters are almost always taking Tees Valley 

children.  

ATV is matching adopters more quickly following approval than the England 

average, by 140 days, with ATV average timescale being 129 days following 

approval, and the England average being 269 days following approval. This 

indicates that ATV is recruiting the right adopters for children, and is effective 

in matching quickly, with much linking activity taking place as adopters are in 

the later stages of assessment.  

More adopters are needed to meet the demand for placements, which is 

continuing to show an increase, with no reduction in placements.  

ATV has been working on an improved Assessment to Support Pathway, as 

detailed, seeking to offer greater information, support and provide more 

confidence to those adopters who can consider children in the harder to 

Page 28



 

15 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

place category, which includes older children, siblings, children of ethnic 

minority heritage, and disabled children, or those with developmental delays.  

Within this year, ATV has placed a sibling group of 3 children together, with 

adopters recruited and approved internally, which is a significant 

achievement.  

 

8. Marketing and Recruitment  

ATV has planned a number of key marketing activities, aimed at promoting 

the RAA and achieving more people choosing to come to ATV to adopt.  

There have been key lines of marketing approach this year, supported by 3 

campaigns, focussing on attracting more prospective adopters to ATV.  

1. The service has worked with the RAA National Recruitment Campaign, 

funded through DfE, targeting adopters for children who wait the 

longest. Nationally these are children from black ethnic minority 

backgrounds. The campaign has been branded #YouCanAdopt and 

has its own website. National film and materials were used, and ATV 

produced its own film, echoing this campaign, with our social worker, 

Chioma, being the face of ATV during this campaign.  

2. ATV analysed our sufficiency needs, assessing the needs of children in 

this region who wait the longest to be adopted. In this RAA it is siblings, 

where one or both siblings have additional needs, and one or both 

children are aged 5 +. In August 2020 ATV did a dedicated 

(anonymised) profile campaign, generating huge social media 

interest, making ATV one of the biggest RAA facebook accounts in 

England.  

To promote needs, ATV set out 3 clear campaign periods in 2020-21:  

 August 2020– profiling our needs for adopters for hard to place 

children.  

 October 2020- National Adoption Week- supported the National 

Adopter Recruitment campaign, with use of national materials, and 

our own film. Focus was on promoting the need for adopters for black 

and ethnic minority children, who wait the longest to be adopted in 

UK.  

 March- April 2021- Sibling campaign, with media interviews, and a 

dedicated focus on the need for adopters for siblings in Tees Valley.  

The ATV website (www.adoptionteesvalley.org.uk) is the largest source of 

enquiries, and enquirers can now request a call back, seeking an initial 

conversation with one of our team to discuss their interest. Systems in ATV 

mean that enquirers receive a friendly call, within the same day, and can 

Page 29

http://www.adoptionteesvalley.org.uk/


 

16 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

easily access an initial conversation followed by an initial visit, to progress 

their interest.  

Outcomes:  

87 visitors to the ATV website as a result of national campaigns, and who 

have directly visited the #YouCanAdopt website.  

Significant increase in social media following as a result of profiling. It is not 

yet clear what impact on overall approval rate, however, since 3.1.21 there 

have been 5 approvals of adoptive parents who can seek to adopt siblings.  

2 families of ethnic minority heritage have come to ATV as a result of the 

National Adoption week/ATV promotional campaign.  

 Full year 2019-20 Q1&Q2 2020-21 Full Year 2020-21  

Enquiries  270 196 357 (32% 

increase)  

Social media 

followers 

1,000  10, 989 

Website Visits  18,175 11,000 17,738 

Attendees at 

Information 

Events 

Not counted Not counted  

205 

Registration of 

Interest  

 

61 

 

30 

 

63 

 

Conversion Enquiry to Registration of Interest- 22% 

In the forthcoming year, ATV will be focussing more effort on developing the 

website, and reaching out to our target audience, supported by digital 

marketing expertise.  

 

9. Adopter Journey – Enquiry to Approval 

 Total 2019-

20 

Q1 &Q2 

2020-21 

Q3 & Q4  

2020-21 

Total  

2020-21 

Initial Visits to 

prospective 

Adopters  

65 50 42 92 

Stage 1 Starts 61 30 33 63 

Stage 2 Starts 54 32 30 62 

Adopter 

Approvals  

50 26 36 62 

 

Conversion Initial Visit to Approval – 67% 

Page 30



 

17 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Assessments have been undertaken virtually by assessing social workers, 

qualified and experienced under the Restriction on the Preparation of 

Adoption Reports Regulations. During the early part of the year, assessments 

were being fully continued via virtual video technology, for those assessments 

started face to face before the initial lockdown. ATV operated within 

practice guidelines agreed through the RAA Leaders group, enabling sharing 

and learning around opportunities for best practice, and high quality 

assessments, conducted virtually. During the year, assessing social workers 

identified that where they had not yet met the applicants, building a 

relationship with prospective adopters was more difficult via virtual means. 

The service agreed planned face to face visits, to enable good quality 

assessments to be undertaken, while maintaining careful risk assessment 

around covid protection, for all parties. It has been high priority to ensure that 

children’s welfare and future safety are paramount, and this has been at the 

forefront of continued assessment work. No adopters have been approved 

without at least one home visit, which enabled a full home safety inspection, 

and face to face meeting between assessor and the applicants.  

New Initiative 

10. Assessment to Support Pathway for Adopters  

During this year, service planning has sought to strengthen the preparation, 

assessment, and support pathway for prospective adopters. The objectives 

are:  

 To help ATV adopters to feel even more equipped and prepared to 

consider children with greater needs, with the aim of increasing more 

internal placements, and reducing inter agency placements 

 To follow recommendations of the 2020 Adoption Barometer report 

(Adoption UK) which recommends that all adopters should have an 

identified support plan.  

A small group of social workers, and the Recruitment Manager have 

developed the ATV model of assessment, using the Adopter Hub (PACT Uk) 

materials, and webinars, and building on the Secure Base Model (Schofield 

and Beek). Additional elements of the assessment include: 

 More use of Adopter Hub materials to explore how prospective 

adopters understand and will meet the needs of children with wider 

needs 

 A Self-Care plan, developed and worked out by applicants with their 

social worker 

 Case Studies available to develop thinking and self-awareness 

Page 31



 

18 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 A new Family and Friends Training Course, enabling the support 

network of adoptive parents to learn more about the needs of 

adopted children.  

Kirsty – one of ATV’s experienced social workers, who developed the course explains: 

 

“The motivation to start this training session was to share our knowledge at ATV 

with the people that will be ultimately supporting the adopter(s) as parents and who 

will be the ones that are playing an important role in a child’s life. The aim was to 

provide an understanding of the differences parenting an adopted child and the 

reasons why a child’s behaviour and development might be slightly different to other 

children in the family and network. Ultimately it was to equip the family and friends 

with how best to support the child and the adopters. 

 

We started the training in March 2021, and we have facilitated 4 sessions. There are 

another 3 sessions scheduled for the rest of the year and are running bimonthly. So 

far, we have had 39 individuals who have attended the half-day session, supporting 

20 couples / single prospective adopters in their adoption journey.  

 

The topics we cover include: The adoption process, attachment, contact in adoption, 

why children require an adoptive family, the different categories of abuse, identity, 

fostering for adoption, therapeutic parenting and how you can support and help”.  

 

Feedback from a prospective grandparent highlights “Each child has gone through 

trauma and they will remember and grieve for that. They have no idea what is ahead 

of them so they will need time to readjust, so we as new grandparents need to be 

mindful of that and adjust ourselves to think first and foremost of their life story 

and realise this child will have different needs from us too regarding what we knew 

as parenting”. 

 
 

 

  

11. Preparation for Adoption Groups 

ATV saw an increase in the numbers of applicants starting the process during 

covid and progressing through assessment and preparation.  

The Preparation sessions were held via Video conferencing however, 

applicants completed all 4 days and the same content, and opportunity to 

meet various key people who could talk about adoption was maintained.  

ATV has a lead social worker for the development and implementation of 

Preparation Training. She has maintained a dedicated focus on the 

preparation of adopters, supported by a number of social workers in the 

Page 32



 

19 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

team, ensuring that all speakers continued to join, giving prospective 

adopters a good preparation experience.  

Angi Simmons – ATV’s Lead Trainer  

 

We have completed all training since May 2020 in the virtual format.  This has been a 

learning curve but so far, the feedback has been positive. We have now the ability to 

have “breakouts rooms” and this has helped in the socialising of the group members 

too. Extra groups were held in October 2020 and January 2021 

Within ATV we have continued to move forward with our assessment tools and the 

training has also been a tool that has been updated.  

Using the Secure Base Model (Schofield and Beek) and incorporating this throughout 

the 4 days will ensure our adopters have awareness of this important theory in child 

development to carry on through their stage 2 assessment period, offering  a range 

of ongoing learning.  

 

Prospective Adopter feedback -  

 I thought today was amazing taught us more than expected considering it was 

the first day. 

 There is a lot to take in but it definitely was worth it 

 Learning about separation and loss was really important. We always believed 

that we would be as open as possible with our child to help with their identity. 

This input reaffirmed that for us, and we believe strongly about children 

knowing where and who they have come from and having open and honest 

conversations. 

 We look forward to being part of the ATV family and meeting you in person. 

Thank you! 

 The courses have allowed us to question our own preconceptions and has 

totally changed our opinions on some aspects such as contact and meeting the 

birth family. We feel like we are more informed in general and now feel this is 

definitely the journey we want to follow. 

 We feel the preparation training was extremely useful. It has opened our eyes 

to the issues we may face as well as providing us with tools and resources to 

help us along the way. 

 

 

Number of groups held: 6 

Number of households attending in total: 69 

Page 33



 

20 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

12. Early Permanence 

ATV has acted on a strategic plan to deliver early permanence for children in 

the Tees Valley for whom the Local Authority has an adoption plan, or is in the 

process of assessment, with adoption as one possible outcome.  

Early Permanence (EP) is the placement of a child who may have/is likely to have 

an adoption plan, with prospective adopters, who are dually approved as foster 

carers and adopters. The usual route is often called Fostering for Adoption (FFA) 

and the approved adopters are identified as prospective carers for the child, 

before the Court has authorised the placement for adoption of that child, through 

a Placement Order. The child is placed with the family on a fostering basis, until 

such time as the Court grant a Placement Order, or that the Court determines that 

the child will return to birth parents, or to a family member, based on  evidence 

provide in the Final Hearing.  

The benefits of EP are that the child has fewer moves in care, prior to formal 

placement for adoption, and the child has the opportunity for beginning bonding 

and attachment to their permanent carers, at the earliest time. Both these actions 

are well researched as being beneficial to children in the short and long term.  

Early permanence does not pre-empt the decision of the Court and Judges will 

always decide a child will return to the care of parents, or family members where 

the welfare of the child dictates this is the best outcome.  

 

 

ATV rolled out the early permanence Strategy is 2020-21, a delivery plan 

which was delayed due to covid.  

Page 34



 

21 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Meetings were held with senior managers and senior solicitors in each 

LA, to agree the key approach to early permanence across Tees 

Valley.  

 An Information Sharing Protocol has been drawn up by ATV Legal 

Advisor (Cygnet Family Law) which was consulted on, through the 

Local Family Justice Board, including with members of the Judiciary.   

 ATV Managers delivered a training programme to each Local Authority 

in Tees Valley, and to Cafcass and the Adoption Panel. Additional 

sessions have been offered to some IRO’s.  

 ATV has implemented a preparation workshop which is mandatory for 

any prospective adopter wishing to consider early permanence.  

ATV and the Local Authorities have delivered 17 early permanence 

placements for children in Tees Valley, an increase of 7 on the previous year.  

Of these 17 placements, no child has returned to parents within the year. 

One child continues without PO and may return to birth family care.  

More opportunity for Early Permanence is a strategic goal of the national 

RAA system, and ATV has worked in collaboration with other RAA’s practice 

to develop the service in Tees Valley. Its success as a pathway for children is 

based on good quality assessment work by the Local Authority children’s 

social work team, and in good preparation and support to prospective 

adopters.  

ATV will build on support to adopters offering early permanence in this year 

(2021-22). ATV will further develop the preparation module for prospective 

adopters, in line with Coram BAAF training in September 2021. Work is 

underway to strengthen the partnership between the 5 LA Fostering Services 

and ATV, to deliver a clearer and more cohesive offer to adopters and the 

child.  

 

13. Referrals of Children, Matching and Placing  

Early Notifications to ATV 

 Q1&Q2 Q3 &Q4  Full 

Year  

 

Early Notifications 

2019-20 

88 76 164  

Early Notifications 

2020-21 

98 97 195 19% 

increase  

 

 

 

Page 35



 

22 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Referrals by Local Authority 

Year DBC HBC MBC R&CBC SBC TV 

2020/21 26 28 58 31 52 

 

195 

 

Placements  

 2019-20 2020-21: April-

September 

2020-21: Oct- 

March 

Totals 

2020-21 
ATV children 

placed with ATV 

adopters 

60 27 25 52 

ATV Children 

placed with 

external 

adopters 

31 18 12 30 

External children 

placed with ATV 

adopters  

2 1 1 2 

Total ATV 

children placed  
91 45 37 82 

Total 

placements  

93 46 38 84 

 

Placements by Local Authority  

 

 

14. Characteristics of children placed  

Age at the time of moving in:  

86

61

91
82

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

TV number of adoptive 
placements by year

8 9 13 15
18 9 9 15

25
17

22
24

11

9
17

11

24

17

28 17

0

20

40

60

80

100

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

LA number of adoptive 
placements by year

DBC HBC MBC RBC SBC

Page 36



 

23 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

0-12 

months 

1-2 yrs. 2-3 yrs. 3-4 yrs. 4-5 yrs.  5+ yrs.  

26 31 11 4 4 6 

32% 38% 13% 5% 5% 7% 

 

Siblings  

 

 

 

 

Ethnicity  

 

Gender  

Page 37



 

24 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

Children who wait the longest to be adopted in Tees Valley  

Analysis of children waiting with a Placement Order data, at the end of Q4, 

identifies that the characteristics of children waiting more than 4 months in 

almost all cases include children in sibling groups. There were 27 children 

waiting with PO, not matched, at the end of Q4. Of these children:  

5 have waited more than 12 months to be matched  

7 have waited between 8-12 months to be matched 

4 have waited 4-8 months to be matched 

11 have waited less than 4 months 

 

4 of the 5 children who have waited longest (over 12 months) are in sibling 

groups, and each of the sibling groups includes at least one child over age 5.  

One who has waited over 12 months is a young child, with uncertain 

developmental needs, but not a disability.  

Of the children waiting 8-12 months, 2 are part of a sibling group of 3 children, 

waiting to be placed, aged over 5 and ethnic minority heritage.  

There is a further white sibling group of 3, with a child aged over 5 in that 

group. Also, a white sibling group of 2, also with a child aged over 5.  

 

15. Disruptions  

There have been no disruptions to a child’s placement, following placement 

with adopters, and before the adoption order is granted.  

Page 38



 

25 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

This is a positive, indicating that children have been matched appropriately, 

and adopters have been supported to meet the child’s needs.  

One child was matched, and began introductions, but then did not go on to 

be placed.  

16. Adoption Panel  

An Adoption panel Chairs report has been co-produced by 2 Independent 

Chairs, as required by Adoption National Minimum Standard 17.2 (NMS 2014)  

The full report is made available to the Board of ATV; to the Adoption Panel; 

to the management and team at ATV.  

This report is for the second period of 6 months in this year- 1.10.20-31.3.21  

Thematic strengths and areas for improvement for ATV Panel Business and 

Management of panel  

Panel chairs fed back that overall adoption activity was positive, and panel 

was operating well. 

There were a total of 28 panels held within this six month period and 23 within 

the previous six months.  The total number of cases considered was 69 as 

opposed to 70 in the previous period reflecting the limit on work presented to 

any one panel, which is welcomed.   

Panel chairs summarised:  

 It is to the adoption team and panel members credit that adoption 

business has been maintained throughout this period, including a third 

‘lockdown’ and that no panels have had to be cancelled due to 

Covid related issues. 

 Due to the ‘virtual’ nature of Panels, the Chair continues to have a 

much more formal role in directing the business and ensuring everyone 

has the opportunity to speak and to ask questions.  This format does 

reduce the free flowing discussion previously held during face-to-face 

meetings, which does not sit comfortably with Panel Chairs. 

 The Chair continues to take on the additional role of agreeing and 

collating panel member questions, which are submitted in advance of 

panel.  

 There continue to be the challenges associated with technology and 

virtual panels. IT issues during virtual panel meetings have delayed 

business on occasions and have meant that the experience for 

adopters will have been less well managed and supported.  

 None of the panels in this timeframe were held with the reduced 

quoracy allowed under the Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2020.  However panel continued to see the 

Page 39



 

26 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

impact of the ‘easing’ allowed by these regulations, particularly in 

timescales for medicals, meaning these were not always completed 

until nearer the end of the assessment process, giving little or no time 

for medical issues to be fully addressed within the reports in some 

cases.   

 Adopter preparation training, meetings and assessment sessions 

continued to be held virtually rather than face-to-face.  Although 

applicants and adopters are generally positive about their experiences 

the longer-term impact of this remains to be seen.   

 

Strengths identified over the past 6 months include 

 Continued consideration of adoption business and commitment of 

everyone involved throughout a time of unprecedented upheaval and 

anxiety due to the Covid 19 pandemic. 

 Consideration of questions for applicants/adopters prior to panel has 

been a benefit and saved time on the day. 

 In contrast to the national trend, adoption business is increasing in the 

region with 6 additional panels having to be arranged to supplement 

the weekly panels already planned.  Additional panels are already 

being planned for the next 6 months ensuring there are sufficient 

central list members available and documentation can be read in a 

timely manner.   

 There have been 17 fostering for adoption cases presented for match, 

ensuring good outcomes for those children in terms of establishing and 

maintaining their early attachments.  

 Panel minutes are now circulated to all panel members for 

consideration to ensure a full and accurate record is agreed. 

 All Central List Members have now had an Annual Review.   

Areas for improvement include: 

 1 Panel was cancelled at short notice due to lack of business during 

this timeframe, with 6 additional Panels arranged at relatively short 

notice, although with the required 10 day period for panel papers to 

be circulated, and read, indicating that the planning of work to be 

presented at panel perhaps needs more careful oversight. 

 The number of individual documents presented for adoption matches 

continues to prove challenging when dealing with information 

electronically.   

 Although a very helpful update on outcomes was provided in February 

21, panel members do not receive regular, timely feedback on 

outcomes following Panel e.g. whether ADM agreed with panel 

recommendations and made their decision within the 7 day timescale; 

Page 40



 

27 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

whether planned placements went ahead successfully, information 

about reasons for interruptions/disruptions or feedback received from 

presenting social workers or prospective adopters. 

 It would be helpful for a summary of pertinent issues raised in Central 

List member appraisals to be made available to Panel Chairs to 

contribute to the 6 monthly report. 

 Although there has now been training relating to trends in disruption in 

specific cases that have disrupted since ATV went live, this did not 

allow the panels that dealt with the particular cases to look forensically 

at their practise in the approval and/or match.  

 There continues to be some evidence of missed opportunities for early 

permanence placements when matches come to panel, though early 

permanence does seem to be embedding in some of the Local 

Authorities. 

 There continue to be some delays in progressing children’s plans, 

resulting in delays in identifying children who require adoption and 

subsequent matching. Availability of case work time, changes of social 

worker, staff sickness and Court timescales are some of the reasons 

cited. 

 There is not always consistent practice across the Tees Valley Local 

Authorities in respect of Life Appreciation events, which are not always 

in evidence where, ideally, they should be required.  Sometimes there 

has been planning and thinking about Life Appreciation Events, but not 

shared in the panel documentation.  Such events should draw on 

information from all carers and significant agencies involved in a child’s 

life. 

 Although there are some excellent examples of CPR’s the inconsistent 

quality continues to cause concern at panel where lack of knowledge 

about regulatory requirements on the part of some authors in 

preparing children’s plans for adoption is evident. Some CPR’s don’t 

have updated information in and this compromises what is available 

for adopter and children.  The importance of full, factual and 

qualitative information being available to children for their future 

cannot be overstated. 

 

The agency meets with panel Chairs following provision of the annual report 

and has continued to make changes and amendments to process, to reflect 

feedback, and improve quality. A challenge for Adoption Tees Valley is that 

although panel is a busy, weekly (sometimes twice weekly ) formal meeting 

requiring a significant amount of administration, planning, and quality 

preparation, there is no additional Panel Advisor or Panel Administrator to 

support this process, as is the case in most other Regional Adoption Agencies.  

 

Page 41



 

28 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

17. Life Story Work 

The Biannual report 2020-21 highlighted challenges with managing the 

volume of life story books for children who are placed for adoption. The 

forum of LA Adoption Lead Officers and ATV have continued to address 

backlog of life story work, looking at short term and longer term measures to 

address this issue. Additional staffing (temporary) has been introduced to 

address backlog however, barriers are identified whereby the child’s social 

worker may not always provide information in a timely way or gather this at 

the time events are progressing with the child’s journey through care. The ATV 

Board have considered this matter and agreed that children’s social workers 

should be responsible for life story work for children. It has been agreed that 

children’s social workers will be more actively monitored within each LA for 

progress with life story work, and the ATV role will be to support the child’s 

social worker in producing the book.  

The backlog of life story work is being addressed between each Local 

Authority and ATV, via agency agreements in each case.  

Longer term options for a digital app, to support gathering life story 

information are being explored. Consultation has taken place with a group of 

adopters, who have given valuable feedback, but in general welcome the 

idea.  

18. Adoption Support 

The adoption support service to adopters has by necessity been delivered 

largely through virtual means, due to the pandemic, with some face to face 

contacts where this has been required for case work, and the need to visit 

children and families.  

 

 2019-20 2020-21  

Number of 

adoption support 

referrals  

147 83  

Access to Files 

requests/completed 

35 36  

Adoption Support 

Assessments 

completed  

132 55  

Successful 

application to ASF 

175 166  

Unsuccessful 

application to ASF  

0 0  

Value of 

applications to ASF  

£692,833 £637,551 

+ £70,965 Covid  

 

Page 42



 

29 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Education Support 

Cases during year  

28 59  

Number of Post Box 

Contract 

Agreements  

 279  

 

The 3 Tier model continues to be in place. Tier one face to face supports 

located within the ATV building have not been delivered within this year.  

Referrals 

Referrals for adoption support are now managed through the duty system, 

with social workers being booked for a one hour call back, to undertake a 

telephone duty referral, which is then forwarded to the Adoption Support 

manager for consideration.  

Referrals for adoption support have decreased this year, which may be 

reflective of less demand due to covid. Another possibility is that the service 

faced a high demand arising from adopters waiting for a service, prior to 

commencement of ATV, with more adopters in high need now receiving a 

service, and underway with a support plan. It may be early days to evaluate 

the impact of strengthened tier 1 and tier 2 offers, and whether the universal 

offer via ATV is beginning to meet needs at an earlier stage.  

A challenge for the service is the waiting list for adoption support allocation, 

which can run into months. The service has designated 3 FTE adoption social 

workers to the Adoption Support Service.  

The service development plan for 2021 is to increase partnership working, and 

a more integrated approach with LA’s, to enable children and their adoptive 

parents to access more readily wider supports from Local Authorities and 

strategic partners, where services can and should be made available to 

families from wider partner provision.  

Adoption Support Assessments 

The number of adoption support assessments has reduced this year. 

However, this is reflective of covid funding enabling the service to “group 

book” therapeutic training, without having to use the multiple application 

process. Also, the impact of the Education Support Worker may be now 

helping families to receive the support they need, in the area of education, 

which is reducing demand for adoption support assessments. The waiting list 

continues to be a challenge to adopters waiting, and for the service.  

Applications to Adoption Support Fund  

The service has progressed slightly fewer applications to the ASF in this year, 

although as with adoption support assessments, covid funding has allowed 

Page 43



 

30 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

for group applications to be progressed as one application, rather than 

many individual applications.  

Many of the individual applications are repeat applications for families who 

referred in for support, and assessment in 2018, 2019, and 2020, but have 

entered into repeated annual applications for continuing therapeutic input.  

The application process for ASF funding has become more administrative this 

financial year, due to changes in the ASF. Nevertheless, it is welcome 

additional funding, to enable access to therapeutic supports for families and 

children.  

The application value in this year is c£638,000 down from c£693,000 in the 

previous year. Although down by £55,000 there has been additional covid 

funding which the service applied for, amounting to £71,000 spent in total.  

Therapeutic provision 

The Service was supported by Stockton procurement team to re-open the 

Preferred providers list for therapeutic services, to be funded via ASF.  

A further 4 services were admitted to the list.  

Children and families continue to value the therapeutic input which is vital to 

help children who have experienced harm, through early adverse childhood 

experiences, abuse and neglect.  

Access to files 

The service has commissioned Adoption Matters to deliver the service for 

Access to Files for adult adoptees, and birth relatives. Significant partnership 

working has taken place to establish a procedure for access to records, 

including work with all 5 Local Authorities, via Adoption Lead officers. After 

considerable working together, with this experienced Voluntary Adoption 

Agency the service is working effectively to provide timely access to records, 

for eligible people. 

There have been 36 Access to Records requests progressed this year. This is a 

similar level to the previous year. 

Education Support  

The service has continued to employ an Education Support worker, co-

funded through the 5 Local Authority Virtual Schools, via DFE grant funding for 

children previously in the care of the LA.  

This post has become well embedded over the last year, and the worker is 

delivering effective education support to children, and families, within the 

context of schools. This means that she also works frequently with Designated 

Teachers, and others involved in helping and supporting children. The worker 

Page 44



 

31 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

meets regularly with Virtual School Heads, to plan for her own development, 

to work within a collective approach to educating children, and facilitating 

emotional and attachment related needs to be understood and planned for 

within the school setting.  

59 families and children have been supported during this year.  

The Education Support Worker says:  

 

The main areas of support are helping schools to understand a child's behaviour and 

needs, training schools about developmental trauma and the impact, mediating 

between parents and schools when relationships have broken down and providing 

schools with strategies to help the child be ready and able to learn. Also, to help 

families to have a better understanding of the education system.  

As the post has developed and become more well known, schools and parents contact 

me directly for support and advice daily.  

 

Thrive Approach: I’m now a Thrive trained practitioner, and I have added this 

element to my support within schools. It has been used as a social and emotional 

intervention to help support the children with neurodevelopmental gaps due to 

adverse childhood experiences.  I work closely with the teachers to profile the 

children and this indicates where the ‘gaps’ in their neurodevelopment have occurred.  

I then provide planning for the schools to deliver the interventions and then 

reprofile the child to assess. It is a holistic approach therefore I provide parents 

also with lists of planned activities that they can complete at home, which will 

consolidate what has taken place in school. This support has been positively received 

by the schools, children and the families involved.   

 

Training: I was a speaker at Middlesbrough practice week and delivered a 

presentation on Previously Looked After Children.  

Delivered developmental trauma and attachment training at schools.  

I am also due to deliver adoption awareness training during the next academic year to 

schools.  

I attended the FASD conference network which furthered my knowledge and 

understanding in this area and how it can be used to support schools, children and 

families.  
 

 

Hartlepool  Virtual School Heads says:  

The Education officer provides invaluable advice, guidance and support to children, 

their parents and schools in relation to any aspect of education. This input has been 

important in ensuring that schools are aware of the difficulties that children 

adopted may face in school, providing training and recommendations to support. She 

also provides parents with a significant assistance with any aspect of education, 

Page 45



 

32 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

attending meetings alongside parents, guiding them through complex education 

processes and being a point of contact for them.  

 

 

 

Post Box  

The service has reviewed how post box contact, also known as letterbox is 

delivered in ATV.  

The system is one which takes time to make sure all letters exchanged are 

properly recorded and checked, also that where letters aren’t received 

according to agreed arrangements a follow up is made with parties to 

remind of the need for the contacts to be sent.  

The service has made changes to the way in which these arrangements are 

recorded in the system, aimed at providing greater confidence in the flow 

and exchange of the information, with records kept in the system of all 

correspondence exchanged.  

The way in which the arrangements are counted has also changed. 

Therefore, data provision is not a like for like comparison with previously 

reported data.  

There have been 279 post box contact arrangements in the last year.  

Birth Parent Support  

Adoption Tees Valley has commissioned Adoption Matters to provide birth 

parent support to all birth parents whose child is to be placed for adoption, 

from the point at which adoption is the plan for the child. There has been 

work across all 5 LA’s, though Adoption Lead officers to promote this service.  

Adoption Matters have called their Birth Parent Support project “Birth Ties” 

and have produced a leaflet for awareness raising with families and 

professionals working with them. Leaflets have been made available to IRO’s 

and Adoption lead officers, and it is now agreed that referral for 

independent birth parent support will take place at the time the LA makes its 

sole plan for adoption.  

In this year, 37 families were provided with independent birth parent support. 

The families came from all 5 Local Authorities across the Tees Valley and 

Darlington.  

 

Therapeutic Parenting Courses 

Page 46



 

33 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

ATV seeks to offer a regular option for therapeutic parenting training, which is 

funded through applications to the ASF. This is part of the Tier 2 offer, and all 

adopters are encouraged to attend once the child is placed with them.  

In the year, one course was held in this period. The Nurturing Attachments 

training was held in November 2020 and was attended by 3 families. 

Although the service sought to generate applicants from the adopter 

community, for therapeutic parenting training, the numbers seeking to attend 

during covid have been lower than during pre-pandemic times.  

Efforts were made to convene a Future Stars (a sensory parenting)  

programme, however, take up was again low, and this has been run in June 

2021, outside of this time period.  

One provider of non-violent resistance training specifically delivered the 

course to adoptive parents and special guardians, during the lockdown, and 

this was funded through covid funding for adoption and SG support.  

Adopter Hub  

The service commissioned the Adopter Hub as a new on-line tool for adopters 

providing information, detailed in depth guidance, webinars and on line 

support. This was initially commissioned as part of covid funding and has 

provided a range of valuable information to adopters. It is now being used 

for support to adopters and prospective adopters, throughout assessment, 

preparation and post placement support. Around 170 users have registered.  

Covid Funding  

Covid funding was made available and applied for via DfE, to provide 

additional supports to families in need.  

The following services were provided through this additional, one off, funding 

source.  

 Adopter Hub 

 NVR (non-violent resistance training and support)  

 Child Psychology Service  

 Access to specialist support via Child Psychologist 

 

Adoption Support – Development areas  

Post adoption support is one of the areas that has received most attention for 

development since regionalisation of adoption. One of the key government 

objectives was to improve adoption support to children and families, to 

improve long term outcomes for adopted children.  

Measures of success in ATV include:  

Page 47



 

34 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Implementation of an adoption support service, with dedicated 

adoption support workers 

 Collaborative work with virtual schools, and the partnership funding 

model for an Education Support Worker post.  

 Regular opportunity for all adoptive parents to access therapeutic 

parenting training 

 Significantly higher draw down on ASF funding and therapeutic service 

input.  

ATV continues to work with the national forum of RAA’s to learn and develop 

around improving support to adoptive families.  

In ATV all families now have an adoption support plan, in line with 

recommendations from the National Adoption Barometer Report (Adoption 

UK, 2020). The support plan will detail the available support to families within 

ATV, at Tier 1,2, and 3.  

All families have access to register for a 2 day therapeutic parenting course, 

and all families will receive one year adoption support from their assessing 

social worker, beyond the adoption order.  

The service now requires that any requests for financial allowances or 

supports are made prior to matching panel, in order that families are clear 

about the financial support plans, prior to confirming they wish to progress the 

match. This does not mean families cannot request further assessments, post 

placement, but the service is much clearer that adoption allowances must 

have been applied for, and agreed by the relevant LA, prior to matching 

panel.  

The biggest challenges for adoption support in ATV are:  

 Waiting timescales for allocation for adoption support assessments 

 Having a shared wider strategic partnership approach that means 

adoption support needs are understood and recognised by local 

authority, health and other statutory and third sector partners.  

To address these issues, ATV is working to review allocation timescales for 

adoption support assessments.  

ATV is also currently undertaking wider systems awareness of adoption 

support, across early help, and other LA Children’s services teams.  

19. Children’s Voice in Adoption  

ATV has been working with a Doctorate Researcher, Helen Woolley, who is 

undertaking research into life stories for children. Through the research 

project, a group of teenage young people has been formed- the Junior 

Researchers, who are now working closely with the researcher, to share ideas 

Page 48



 

35 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

and thinking about what it means to be adopted, and where they feel 

organisations and individuals could be influenced to better understand 

adoption.  

The Junior Researchers have already identified they believe that ATV would 

benefit from a Teenagers Worker, to support adopted young people with the 

variety of issues that they encounter as they grow up.  

The service will be working with this group, to help progress the voice of the 

child, through influencing and targeted campaigns, but also on how the 

service can better develop to listen to the voice of adopted young people.  

 

Prior to the national pandemic, ATV had started a children’s group, to 

incorporate the child’s voice into ATV, and to enable groups of children to 

receive some dedicated support to help them with understanding their 

identity as adopted children, alongside other adopted children.  

The group has not progressed due to the pandemic. It is planned to resume 

this group as an when the service is able to commence working safely again 

in the building.  

20. Non Agency Adoptions  

ATV is responsible for non- agency, step parent adoptions. This is the adoption 

by one birth parent and a partner to that person, who is not the natural birth 

parent, of a child. It is a full assessment, which will inform the Court on the 

granting of an adoption order, and the permanent dispensation of parental 

responsibility to the absent birth parent.  

This service continues to present a resource and demand issue, whereby the 

service has the challenge of allocation of resources to step parent adoptions, 

from the overall team which must focus effort on the high number of children 

in our care, requiring permanence planning and adoption.  

One worker has been allocated to manage step parent adoptions.  

The following data applies to 2020-21 

Enquiries  46 

Initial Visits  9 

Awaiting assessment 39 

In assessment as of 31.3.21  10 

Adoption Orders granted  8 

 

21. Quality Assurance  

National Minimum Standard 25.  

Page 49



 

36 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

The following mechanisms have been implemented for managing and 

monitoring the work of the agency, and the quality of work.  

 The Review of ATV is a wide reaching review, to assess progress of the 

RAA against the agreed objectives that were set out at the 

implementation of the RAA.  

 Tracking systems to enable regular monitoring of children and adopter 

journeys; timeliness, and outcomes. Tracking systems have been further 

improved in this period. Tracking highlights barriers to be addressed, for 

example, delays in GP reports have been addressed with Commissioners 

in health; Designated Child in Our care Nurses, and via safeguarding 

GP’s.  

 Tracking of children enables focussed discussions with Adoption Lead 

officers quarterly, or as required, to ensure that individual children’s plans 

are progressed in a timely way, and that thematic practice issues within 

Local Authorities are addressed.  

 A performance, assurance and challenge meeting (PAC) has been held 

with the senior adoption lead for each LA, quarterly following ASGLB and 

ATV Scorecard data returns. All children for each LA have been tracked 

and monitored, and agreement about direction, or decisions signposted 

where applicable.  

 Permanence Champions for each Local Authority ensure that children’s 

referrals are progressed and tracked in a timely way. This means that ATV 

is able to family find for children at the right time, and with the right 

information about that child’s plan.  

 ATV attends one Local Authority (Middlesbrough) Permanence 

Monitoring Group, monthly, and the Gateway panel monthly, to assist 

with the improvement journey for that LA, and with quality and timeliness 

of practice for children.  

 The balanced scorecard (BSC) has been reviewed and developed to 

better reflect nationally submitted data, via ASGLB returns from Local 

Authorities and Adoption Tees Valley. The BSC is generated quarterly 

detailing key performance data, user feedback/satisfaction measures; 

complaints/compliments; finance. This has been presented to the Board, 

which has a role in questioning, challenge and being satisfied of the 

effectiveness of the service.  

 The Adoption Panel has a quality monitoring role in the Service around 

business presented to it, for consideration and advice. As detailed in the 

Panel section, this period has seen some gaps in provision of quality 

monitoring data which is now being addressed. Quality of PARS is felt to 

be high, with some recommendations about consistency of practice 

across PAR’s. Quality of CPR’s is generally improved, although some 

remain poor. Minutes now detail feedback on quality of CPR in order 

that ADM’s in Local Authorities are able to read the panel comments 

Page 50



 

37 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

around quality of the CPR. Panel has commented on improvements to 

the Adoption Support Plan, and APR.  

 The Adoption Panel Chairs provide a report bi-annually to the Service 

Manager, which will be presented to the Board; Panel; and to the team, 

for learning and improvement where required.   

 Staff performance is monitored via supervision, which is monthly for all 

staff.  

 A case practice audit tool has been developed. Case practice audits 

were undertaken, across a sample of case records, with managers 

independent of that case, and the worker. These will be collated into a 

thematic audit report for board to consider.  

 Most staff, and all managers have had an annual appraisal.  

 All Central List members and Panel Chairs have had an annual appraisal. 

Panel chairs now request that the agency collates themes from 

appraisal for the annual report. Panel training has been delivered to 

panel members arising from feedback from panel appraisals, which 

includes Disruptions; Roles and Operational processes for ATV; early 

Permanence.  

 Team meetings take place monthly, and are used to convey policy and 

practice information, involve staff in developments and any quality 

improvements that are required.   

 Adopter feedback has been sought at the start of lockdown via a 

Consultation Survey. User feedback was used to inform adoption support 

needs during lockdown. There is an adopter survey currently live, seeking 

adopter views on the services ATV provides, which will be analysed as 

part of the ATV review.  

 The Service Manager, and Team Manager, post adoption support, have 

reviewed and monitored work undertaken by external agencies for post 

adoption support, to ensure that work supports outcomes and delivers 

best value.  

 Stockton BC have undertaken an audit of the service to provide an 

“independent” QA mechanism.  

 The Service has commissioned a person with senior experience and 

understanding to update and write the policies and procedures for ATV. 

These are now well underway and will be completed by September 

2021. Policies have been shared via Adoption Leads, to enable LA 

development of policy framework which is integrated with ATV, for 

adoption practice.  

 

22. Finance  

Adoption tees Valley is joint funded as a shared service under the Education 

and Adoption Act (2016) and is a joint funded on a shared basis, with the 

allocations of funding per LA as detailed below.  

Page 51



 

38 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 

 

 Baseline Running 

Costs (based on 

former costs of the 

Adoption Services in 

the year preceding 

the RAA)  

Percentage Interagency 

fee contributions 

(based on average 

annual adoption numbers 

2014/15 to 2016/17) 

Darlington 16.2% 20.2% 

Hartlepool 13.5 % 14.0% 

Middlesbrough 31.8%  27.2% 

Redcar and 

Cleveland 

16.7.% 14.0% 

Stockton 21 % 24.7% 

 100%  100.0% 

 

2020/21 Financial Year End Position 

At the end of the 2020/21 financial year, Adoption Tees Valley underspent by 

£24,000, which has been carried forward in the ATV reserve. 

Expenditure Heading Budget 2020/21 Actual Outturn Variance year end 

Employees 1,322,700 1,432,000 109,300 

Running Costs 295,000 190,000 (105,000) 

Support Service Costs 113,000 118,000 5,000 

Interagency Fees  500,000 909,000 409,000 

Income (2,230,700) (2,673,000) (442,300) 

Total  0 (24,000)  (24,000) 
 

Interagency Fees 

Interagency fees are payable for those children matched with adopters who 

are not recruited by ATV. The budget for interagency fees is £500,000 and 

was overspent by £409,000. This led to additional contributions from each 

Local Authority, as follows: 

  Budgeted 
Contribution 

to Interagency 
Fees 

Actual 
for 

2020/21 

Additional 
Contribution 

for 20/21 

ATV Interagency 2020/21 500,000 909,000 409,000 

Darlington - 20.2% 101,000 184,000 83,000 

Hartlepool - 14% 70,000 127,000 57,000 

Middlesbrough - 27.2% 136,000 247,000 111,000 

Redcar & Cleveland - 14% 70,000 127,000 57,000 

Page 52



 

39 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

Stockton -24.6% 123,000 224,000 101,000 
 

 

Overspend on employee costs is largely offset by underspend on running 

costs, leading to a net budget saving. This is being reinvested into services for 

post adoption support, and marketing.  

The interagency fees budget overspend is reflective of the higher numbers of 

children who have been referred and placed for adoption than was forecast 

at the outset of the RAA implementation.  

The Service is seeking to increase recruitment of adopters, and by the close of 

the year had increased adopter recruitment by 39% on the previous year.  

Nevertheless, a similar number of children have been placed for adoption 

externally as the previous year. Data shows that adopters in Tees valley are 

being used for placements, with few being available for external placements. 

ATV adopters are on average being matched 100 days more quickly than the 

national average.  

The service has progressed the Invest to Save model noted in the Biannual 

report. there is a small pool of casual assessors who are able to supplement 

assessment activity where demand is high, and pressures exist.  

Furthermore, a greater focus on digital marketing is being progressed with a 

local Digital Marketing Company, with the aim of securing more market share 

of those wishing to adopt in this region.  

The review of ATV will evaluate the “Value for Money” objective in ATV, and all 

LA Finance Teams are involved in the evaluation.  

The ATV board has considered the Budget and Financial Report. the ATV Board 

continues to monitor actions to reduce external expenditure, however, 

children who are waiting to be adopted should not be further delayed due to 

an unwillingness to use external agencies, and in this region, this is agreed as 

paramount by the Board.  

23. Development Areas for Adoption Tees Valley 

The service continues to review and develop, in the light of data analysis 

against national and regional benchmarking; through feedback; national and 

regional practice development in adoption; Panel Chairs feedback; Quality 

feedback. The Service will also be taking account of the Review of ATV, and 

any lessons or themes for improvement.  

Key Developments within the 2021 Service Plan are:  

 Strengthening the involvement and voice of adopted children in ATV.  

Page 53



 

40 
 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 Strengthening the Preparation and Assessment of Adopters, to help 

them feel more informed and equipped to meet the needs of children, 

including those with additional needs. The Assessment to Support 

Pathway has already commenced, and is practitioner led.  

 Continuing to address sufficiency of adopters, through improved 

marketing and recruitment. Also through the strategic work with VAA 

partners to provide regional sufficiency, where ATV does not have 

adopters available. This will help ATV to continue to work at reducing the 

waiting time for all children who require permanence via adoption 

 Taking the Early permanence strategy to “Phase 2”, building on the 

learning and experience during “Phase 1”, especially with respect to 

supporting adopters, and professionals; working more closely with 

Fostering Services; working across more multi agency partners including 

health; workforce development.  

 Strengthening the partnership working with children’s services partners, 

Early Help, and other strategic partners, to extend and improve access 

to support when and where it is needed, at the earliest possible 

opportunity.  

 Continuing to address the model for life story work, to ensure this is done 

in a more timely way. This will be informed by the PhD research currently 

underway, which in turn is informed by Junior Researchers.  

 Continuing to address timescales for adoption support assessments. 

Also, extending the options for Tier 1 and Tier 2 support, include peer to 

peer support, to help adopters and children. r 

 Taking forward actions from Panel Chairs report, to continue to work at 

smooth and streamlined operation of panel.  

 Working together with the 5 LA partners, to continuously improve 

permanence planning, and quality of CPR’s, to deliver timely and well 

matched placements for children.  

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

Page 54



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

Sufficiency Action Plan 

 Highlight Report 

September 2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 7



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

1.0 Our Response 
 
The Corporate Parenting Strategy for Children and Young People in Middlesbrough 

was presented to and signed off by Corporate Parenting Board in December 2020. 
 
The strategy sets out our vision and action plan for how the Council and our 
partners will support children and young people who are in our care, and our care 
leavers, to achieve the best possible outcomes in their lives. Transforming our 
approach to corporate parenting. 
 
Our Sufficiency Action Plan was developed in consultation and is built around the 
priorities set out in our Corporate Parenting Strategy.  The action plan sets out 
actions we feel need to be undertaken in order to better meet our needs.  
 
Our Sufficiency Action Plan will be reviewed and updated as actions are completed 
or as new work is identified in the event of any changes to our sufficiency needs 
over the 3-year cycle of our plan.  
 
The overall responsible Council officer for the Sufficiency Action Plan for Children 
and Young People is the Director of Children’s Services (DCS). For each of the six 
priority themes, senior Council officers have been delegated by the DCS as the 
accountable lead for maintaining an overview of the priorities set out in the action 
plan. 
 
Themes and Responsible Officers 
 

Theme 
Lead Accountable Officer 

 

 
1 
 

 
Strengthening Commissioning For Children & Young People 
 

Head of Service Futures for Families  
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
2 
 

 
Increasing Placements Close to where Children & Young People Live and 
Learn 

Head of Service Future for Families 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
3 
 

 
Growing Early Intervention & Prevention 
 

Head of Prevention 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
4 
 

 
Improving Placements & Support for Care Leavers 

Head of Service Children Looked After 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
5 

 

 
Enhancing Learning Outcomes for Children & Young People 

Virtual Head 
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
6 
 

 
Building Our Fostering Capacity and Adoption Outcomes 
 

Head of Service Future for Families  
Specialist Commissioning & Procurement 
Senior Manager 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 56



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

2.0 Progress against Each Theme  
 

Theme 1 - Strengthening Commissioning for Children and Young People 
  

 Work has commenced on the introduction of Controcc in to Children’s in 

order to bring efficiencies in payment processes and strengthen our 

demand modelling already achieved in Adults.  

 Middlesbrough Council held an Independent Fostering Agency Provider 

Event in June 2021 which was very well attended. 

 

Theme 2 – Increasing Placements Close to where Children and Young 

People live and learn 

 

 Partner in Practice work was undertaken with in-house fostering and has 

been put on hold as a business case for internal change has been submitted 

for approval. 

 Regional work on future procurement of a regional framework continues 

and the commissioning model has been received and circulated internally 

for review. 

 Internal unregulated provision opened and is actively being used with 7 

young people currently being supported. 

 Rosecroft Children’s Home has re-opened with an increase in beds to 5 and 

now specifically offering support to young people aged 16+ in order to 

support move on to independence. 

 Continue to work with the region in order to identify any opportunities for 

collaboration.  Currently awaiting set up of a regional commissioning hub. 

 

Theme 3 – Growing Early Intervention & Prevention  

 

 PAUSE continues to provide monitoring information on the women engaged 

and the positive outcomes they are achieving, this has resulted in an 

extension to the current contract. 

 Pilot Early Intervention and Prevention service has commenced and is being 

closely monitored.  A formal review will be undertaken in order to ensure 

proof of concept and confirm future commissioning intentions. 

 

Theme 4 – Improving Placements & Support for Care Leavers 

 

 Business case has been submitted in relation to increasing supported 

lodging providers internally and is awaiting sign off.  

 

 

 

 

Page 57



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

Theme 5 – Enhancing Learning Outcomes for Children & Young  People  

 

 Discussions have commenced with the Boarding School providers in order 

to expand the opportunities for our children and young people and increase 

placement choice. 

 

Theme 6 – Building Our Fostering Capacity and Adoption Outcomes 

 

 Business case for internal change has been submitted for approval. 

 

 

3.0 Impact/Performance/Data 
 

 Opened engagement with the Independent Fostering market which was 
really positive and gave an opportunity to feedback and update them on 
our improvement journey and aspirations for the future. 
 

 External placement numbers have decreased and plat toed and we are now 
monitoring these weekly focusing on both internal and external placement 
changes. 
 

 

5.0  Risks 
 

 Unregulated legislation changes limiting the placement options available 
 

 The increase in demand across the service and across the tees valley region 
 
 

6.0 Next Steps 
 

 Review and update the Sufficiency Action Plan to make sure its fit for 
purpose 

 Unregulated provision changes needs to be added to plan  
 A schedule for provider engagement to be developed to ensure networking 

with the market continues to develop 
 Ensure the regional work meets the needs of Middlesbrough and where not 

continue to work independently 
 Work with in-house fostering to understand the business plan for the future  

which in turn can identify our commissioning intentions moving forward 
 

 

 

Page 58



 

Middlesbroughchildrenmatter.co.uk 

 

Owner – Rachel Farnham, Middlesbrough Council, Director of Children’s 

Social Care 

Author – Claire Walker, Specialist Commissioning & Procurement Senior 

Manager  

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Middlesbrough Children’s Services  

Virtual School 

School Transitions 2021  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 9



Introduction 

The PEP process supports pupils at transition points throughout their school journey; this includes transition into care, emergency moves and 

natural transitions such as starting reception, moving to secondary school or post 16 education. 

Middlesbrough children’s Services believe that successful transition for looked after children incorporates joint working with foster careers, 

schools and social workers.  Change can often be difficult and often these changes can be even more challenging for looked after children. This 

is why we aim to begin transition planning at the earliest possible stage to ensure that plans can be put in place and children feel at ease and 

ready to begin the next part of their educational journey. 

The routines and processes in place that support all transitions must be flexible to ensure the needs of individual children are met. Where 

possible children will need time to become familiar with their new surroundings, at their own pace and with support from their key person. 

Planning should start 12 months preceding any natural transition point and then be a continuous and evolving process that can be adapted to 

meet the needs of the individual child. Many activities such as joint meetings between settings and school staff can be on-going throughout 

the year.  

The PEP has a comprehensive action plan for transition planning to meet each child’s individual needs. 

Our aspiration is that with well supported attachment aware transitions students will engage more successfully in their education, teachers 

will be more fully informed of prior attainment and future outcomes will improve. 

EYFS 

Children aged 2+ who attend an educational provision are required to have a Personal Education Plan (PEP) which records both care planning 

information as well as educational next steps to ensure appropriate progress is made. 

Last year; 

 28 children transitioned from nursery to reception   

 6 of those children are now in their forever homes and are no longer looked after  

 3 children had SEN support needs and 0 had an EHCP 

 9 children started reception in schools outside of Middlesbrough  

P
age 62



Primary to Secondary  

The transition to secondary school is a huge step for all children. It is an especially big step for children who are looked after. When a child 

moves to secondary school they no longer remain in one class all day, but are required to move around the school. Children have to deal with 

timetables and a wide variety of subjects.  

Some common transitional problems for children are as follows: 

1. When leaving primary school children go from being the oldest to the youngest in their new school. 

2. From having one teacher in primary school children will have to cope with as many as ten or more teachers with different  teaching 

styles and personalities.  

3. Secondary school is much bigger and children will go from having one classroom to ten or more. 

4. There is more homework to be done. 

5. A larger number of textbooks need to be transported and organised. 

6. A longer school day. 

7. Greater competition both academically and in sports and activities. 

8. Faster pace of teaching  

9. Having to make new friends – this is especially difficult if a child’s primary school friends have not moved to the same secondary school. 

 

In order to support year 6 transition all looked after children received £1,000 Pupil Premium Plus to ensure enhanced and bespoke transition 

arrangements were in place.  

Last year: 

 43 children transitioned from primary to secondary  

 7 of those children are now in their forever homes and are no longer looked after  

 12 children had SEN support needs and 10 had an EHCP 

 23 children started secondary in schools outside of Middlesbrough  

 

P
age 63



Post 16  

Young people left school on the last Friday in June. All young people of school leaving age needed to do one of the following: 

 stay in full-time education, for example at school, sixth form college or further education college 

 start an apprenticeship or traineeship 

 spend 20 hours or more a week working or volunteering while also doing part-time education or training 

The local authority has a duty to make sure young people are offered a suitable place by the end of September. This is known as the 

September Guarantee. 

Care leavers are eligible for the 16 to 19 Bursary Fund which can help with things like books, travel and equipment. 

Last year; 

• 47 children transitioned from secondary to post 16   

• 2 of those children are now in their forever homes and are no longer looked after  

• 15 children had SEN support needs and 13 had an EHCP 

• 38 had an offer of full time education and the other 9 had a training place offer. 

 

September 2021 Education, employment and training figures: 

NEET   23% 

Education  66% 

Employment  6% 

Training  5% 

 

P
age 64



 

Nursery 1              Nursery 2        Reception         

Autumn/summer       Autumn term        Spring term       Summer Term            Autumn Term 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Reception  

PEP should be 

completed 

within 6 weeks  

of the start of 

the term 

The Virtual 

School team 

will continue to 

monitor 

progress and 

pupils will 

receive 

additional 

support if 

required 

The Designated  

Teacher will be 

invited to the  

PEP meeting.  

A date for next 

PEP meeting set. 

Data to be 

collected from 

the nursery by 

the Designated 

Teacher for 

primary school 

The Virtual School 

will send out 

transition post 

card  

 

 

  

National Offer Day 

Results of School 

applications sent 

out.  

The Virtual School 

will contact foster 

carers regarding 

places. 

The Data Analyst 

will gather school 

offer information. 

Virtual School will 

offer support 

where needed e.g. 

if first choice 

school place not 

offered 

Virtual School team 

monitor progress - 

pupils receive 

additional support 

if required 

 

 

PEP within first 

half of the term  

The Virtual School 

will support 

Foster Carers and 

Social Workers 

with identifying 

appropriate 

schools. 

Application forms 

to be submitted 

by end of 

October. The 

Virtual School to 

support 

application 

process where 

necessary 

Virtual School 

monitor progress 

and provide 

additional support 

if required 

 

Before the child is 

2 years old the 

Virtual School will 

contact Foster 

Carers / Social 

Workers to 

outline 

admissions and 

educational 

entitlement  

Identification of 

child’s needs  

Support transition 

into Nursery   

The Virtual School 

team will monitor 

progress - pupils 

will receive 

additional support 

if required 

P
age 65



        Year 5                                             Year 6                                            Year 7  

Summer Term            Autumn            Spring            Summer                 Autumn  
 

 

 

 

        Year 5      Year 6           Year 7 

    Summer Term                Autumn Term     Spring Term      Summer Term              Autu 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Year 7 PEP 

should be 

completed 

within 10 days 

of the start of 

the term 

The Virtual 

School team 

will continue to 

monitor 

progress and 

pupils will 

receive 

additional 

support if 

required 

 

The new Year 7 

Designated 

Teacher will be 

invited to the last 

Year 6 PEP 

meeting 

A date for next 

PEP meeting set 

for Year 7  

Data to be 

collected from 

primary school 

and given to 

Designated 

Teacher for 

secondary school.  

The Virtual School 

will send out 

transition post 

card  

 

 

  

National Offer Day 

1st March. Results 

of secondary 

school applications 

sent out.  

The Virtual School 

will contact foster 

carers regarding 

places 

The Data Analyst 

will gather school 

offer information. 

Virtual School will 

offer support 

where needed e.g. 

if first choice 

school places not 

offered 

Virtual School team 

will monitor 

progress and pupils 

will receive 

additional support 

if required 

 

 

The Virtual School 

will coordinate 

secondary school 

open days with 

Foster Carer and 

Social Worker. 

The Virtual School 

will support 

Foster Carers and 

Social Workers 

with identifying 

appropriate 

schools. 

Application forms 

submitted by end 

of October. Virtual 

School to support 

process where 

necessary. 

Virtual School 

monitor progress 

and pupils will 

receive additional 

support if 

required. 

The Virtual School 

will meet with 

Foster Carers / 

Social Workers to 

outline 

admissions 

procedure 

Appropriate 

Secondary Schools 

and relevant 

admissions 

process will be 

explored with 

Foster Carers 

The Virtual School 

team will monitor 

progress and 

pupils will receive 

academic support 

if required 

 

P
age 66



        KS3                  Year 10        Year 11                                Year 12 

Autumn Term      Spring Term                    Summer Term                 Autumn Term 

 

    
 

                                                  Summer Term                       Autumn Term             Spring Term             Summer Term                 

Virtual School 

to make 

contact with 

Designated 

Teacher / 

tutor at sixth 

form or 

college. 

Virtual School 

will support 

first PEP held 

within the first 

half of term. 

 

Virtual School 

will track 

attainment and 

progress through 

PEPs to ensure 

the young 

person is on 

track to achieve 

grades needed 

Virtual School 

will monitor 

performance 

data and 

interventions 

put in place 

where required. 

The Virtual 

School will be 

available to 

support young 

people on 

results day and 

with registering 

at college. 

  

The Virtual 
School will 
support 
applications and 
interviews at 
college 
 
The Virtual 
School will 
monitor 
applications and 
offers of places 
through PEP’s 
and direct 
communication 
 
Virtual School will 
track attainment 
and progress 
through PEPs to 
ensure the young 
person is on track 
to achieve grades 
needed to attend 
course of choice.   
 
Any young 
person who has 
not identified a 
course to receive 
1:1 support  
 

 

 

PEP meeting to be 
held before half-
term for Virtual 
School to 
coordinate college 
and sixth form  
visits, with young 
person, Foster 
Carer and Social 
Worker 
 
Virtual School will 
support Foster 
Carers and Social 
Worker with 
identifying 
appropriate post 
16 places 
 
Virtual School 
offer 1:1 support 
if necessary. 
 
Virtual School to 
monitor PEP 
Transition Plan to 
ensure transition 
has been planned 
appropriately 
 

Virtual School will 

meet with Foster 

Carers and Social 

Workers to 

outline 

admissions 

procedure for 

sixth form and 

college 

Virtual School will 

monitor ePEP 

Transition Plan to 

ensure careers 

guidance has been 

given 

All young people 

will be offered the 

opportunity to 

visit a university  

Virtual School 

encourages 

high aspirations 

– participation 

in Aim Higher 

University visit 

programme. 

Pupils’ access to 

careers advice 

is recorded and 

quality 

monitored  

Virtual School 

will support 

with options if 

needed. 

Virtual School 

monitors 

performance 

data and 

interventions 

put in place 

where required 

 

P
age 67



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes- Corporate Parenting Board - 14 September 2021 and action plan
	Corporate Parenting Board Action Plan

	4 Adoption Tees Valley- Annual report 2021-21
	7 Corporate Parenting Board Strategy Action Plan- Review of the Sufficiency action plan
	9 Virtual School Transitions 2021

